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conversation starter #40

“�IS CHANGE  
 THE ONLY  
 CONSTANT?”
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This year, Adcorp celebrates its 30th year 
of business. We’ve learnt a lot over the past 
three decades, weathering the changes in 
market conditions and embracing technological 
developments that continue to change the industry. 

When we first opened our doors for business, 
we operated in the typesetter and bromide era 
dominated by printing presses. Today, there are 
numerous different channels that we continue to 
explore and evaluate when developing solutions  
for our clients. 

Adcorp at 30 looks to the future with a mature 
mindset. We’ve been through several economic 
boom and bust cycles, learning a lot and we’re 
all the better for it. Looking forward, it is this 
knowledge and experience, plus an enduring 
commitment to developing effective solutions for 
our clients, that will be the source of future success.  

INTRODUCTION
Ian Rodwell, Adcorp Founder
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conversation starter #16

The year under review has seen both significant 
change and significant progress at Adcorp.

David Morrison was appointed CEO of Adcorp in 
March 2011 and moved to consolidate a number  
of positions and reporting lines.

Our management team have been focused on  
three key areas:  

• �Overall cost control and, where appropriate,  
cost reduction 

• Increasing margins from existing business 

• Winning new business 

These sometimes conflicting objectives have 
enabled The Company to report:

• �An overall reduction of $2.9m in operating  
costs excluding impairment and finance charges 

• �While operating revenues reduced by 5.5% to 
$29.2m, the Company maintained an operating 
revenue margin in line with prior year at 17% 
and is generating a higher mix of revenues from 
consulting work and projects 

• �A slower than anticipated level of new business, 
though during the period we continued to add  
blue-chip corporate clients to our portfolio   

• �A lift in earnings attributable to Adcorp’s 
shareholders, from a loss in the prior year of 
$(7.138m) after impairment charges, to a profit  
this year of $1.392m. The impairment charges  
in the prior year amounted to $7.975m 

Australian Government, New South Wales,  
Western Australian and Northern Territory 
Government accounts provide a sound base  
of revenue for Adcorp and are proving to be  
a useful point of introduction for other  
government business. 

Trading 

The improved trading position has enabled the 
company to pay a two cent fully franked dividend 
for the year.  

Outlook   

The outlook for Adcorp in significant measure 
reflects the outlook for the Australian and New 
Zealand economy. It is best described as variable.

The core of our business continues to reside in 
employment and property advertising, which is 
stronger in the mineral rich states of Queensland 
and Western Australia.

The New Zealand economy, and as a consequence 
Adcorp’s business, was in the early stages or 
recovery until it was hit by the unforseen natural 
disasters of the Christchurch earthquake and the 
mine collapse at Pike River. 

However with a tight rein on costs and a renewed 
vigour in the quest for new business, we are 
confident that the improved performance in  
2010-11 will be emulated in 2011-12. 

Our People 

In these times economic restraint and structural 
change, our people are our greatest asset.  
The Board wishes to place on record our thanks  
for their hard work and dedication.

This leads us to the view, that with a continued 
focus to do the best possible for our clients Adcorp 
will continue to improve and provide value for  
our shareholders.

“�WHAT SORT OF 
YEAR WAS IT?”
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Overview 

The 2010/2011 financial year was a challenging one 
that saw a significant decline in advertising and 
marketing spend across most industry sectors. 
Coupled with this, the natural disasters in both 
Queensland and Christchurch affected performance 
in these regions.

These factors, combined with challenging trading 
conditions and the loss of clients in our Andrews 
Advertising subsidiary, saw our billings decrease by 
$11.622m to $170.952m and our operating revenues 
fall 5.5% or $1.7m to $29.2m.

Overall expenditure reduced by $2.9m, of which 
$1.2m is attributable to the cessation of trading at 
Andrews Advertising. The 2010 financial year included 
one-off restructuring and termination costs of $0.5m 
and we have seen the benefit of ongoing cost saving 
initiatives flow through to this financial year.

Profit for the consolidated entity after tax and non-
controlling interests grew to $1.392m from the prior 
year’s loss of $(7.138m).

At the end of the financial year we closed with a 
solid $10.273m in cash and we had no drawings 
outstanding on our banking facilities at 30 June 2011.

Business Review

In late March 2011 we commenced a major review 
of the business in light of the challenging market 
conditions. This review instigated a program of 
change within our business that has seen a number 
of new, experienced, commercially-focused people 
appointed to the senior management team.

This new management team is focused on increasing 
efficiencies within our traditional business services, 
growing our mix of strategic and consulting services 
that attract higher margins, and increasing the volume 
of new business coming into the agency.

conversation starter #7

“�WHAT’s our plan for 
the future?”

David Morrison, Adcorp CEO

CEO’s Review
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Investments

As markets continue to change, so do the needs of  
our clients. With current needs and an eye to the future, 
we are continuing to invest in our creative, media, 
consulting and digital services.

These changing needs require our people to have 
differing skill sets and as such, we are investing in 
training our people to be able to sell and manage 
projects that encompass these additional and 
improved service offerings. 

Markets

One of the key competitive strengths of Adcorp is 
our Trans-Tasman network of offices that offer clients 
continuity of service on a regional basis.

I am pleased to say that in October 2010 with the 
win of the Northern Territory Government’s Interstate 
and International advertising contract, we expanded 
our geographic footprint and opened a new office in 
Darwin. While the Government contract underpins 
our presence, this region also provides a number of 
commercial opportunities for marketing and advertising 
services that we are currently pursuing.

In these uncertain times, our network of offices allows 
us to reduce the impact of erratic local market activity 
that currently being experienced.

We are also combining with our global partners 
through our membership of the Hodes Global 
Network; delivering ground-breaking work for clients 
including Rio Tinto and ANZ Bank, and implementing 
recommendations in several countries throughout  
the world.

Government

Our Government Master Media contracts now 
comprise 37% of our total billings. In October 2010 
we added to our portfolio the NT Government 
business and our contract with the Western Australian 
Government was extended a further two years. In 
addition, NSW Government exercised the extension 
option in our Media Placement and typesetting 
agreement, effective 1 January 2011 for 12 months. 
This contract provides for a further extension option  
in January 2012.

It was a common theme in our first year of appointment 
on all Government contracts, that advertising spend 
significantly declined in line with tightening economic 
conditions. As these contracts have matured, spend 
has stabilised allowing us to restructure our cost  
bases accordingly.

Government business represents a growing opportunity 
for more creative and strategic services and progress 
has been made in securing additional work including 
our appointment to the WA Police Creative and 
Marketing Services contract in August 2010.

Transactional Advertising

Despite the continuing decline in traditional media 
channels, potential growth in market share and the 
proliferation of new media options and channels 
support our belief there is still opportunities for  
revenue growth.

It is a focus of the business to rollout our proven and 
proprietary online advertising management system, 
Connect2™, to our commercial client base, to 
take advantage of further efficiencies it provides as 
demonstrated through its success in managing high 
volume Government contracts.

Consulting Services

This continues to be an area of growth for Adcorp. 
Revenue from consulting and digital services has grown 
from revenues of $823k in FY10 to $1.533m in FY11.

Clients utilising such services now include blue-chip 
organisations such as Rio Tinto, Telstra, ANZ Bank  
and Coles.

In New Zealand, where economic conditions remain 
subdued, we have managed to significantly grow our 
revenues generated from digital projects.

 
People

It is our people that make the difference and we are 
developing programs to train, develop and engage with 
our staff. Early indicators are that our staff turnover 
rate has reduced which allows us to keep Intellectual 
Property within the organisation.

Since my appointment to the role of CEO in March 
2011, I would like to place on record my thanks and 
appreciation for the support that has been shown to 
me and the enthusiasm our people show for  
Adcorp’s future.

Outlook

There is no doubt market conditions will remain 
challenging for the foreseeable future.

In response we have adopted a mantra amongst 
management of continually ‘doing things better’ and 
looking for ways to provide quality, results-driven 
advertising solutions for our clients.

Through continuing prudent cost management and 
an aggressive new business drive, we are confident of 
Adcorp’s continuing success.

“�Despite challenging economic conditions  
and natural disasters, Adcorp has grown 
EBITDA 54% over the previous year through 
a continued focus on cost management  
while maintaining revenue margins”
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conversation starter #46

“�WHAT DO THE 
NUMBERS MEAN?”
• Solid EBITDA growth and a focus on cost management 

• Revenue margins similar to the prior period 

• Billings mix includes increasing government business 

• �Solid cash balances of $10.273m with Net Tangible assets per share up 
14.6% to 8.6 cents 

• Return to Dividends of 2 cents per share, fully franked.

Craig McMenamin, Adcorp CFO



11

Performance Highlights P&L
	 $20M 
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(Excl Other Income)

Performance 
Highlights
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$m                                     FY10             FY11

H1 H2 Total H1 H2 Total

Billings 88.6 93.9  182.5 86.9  84.0  170.9 

Operating Revenue 15.2  15.7  30.9 14.7  14.5 29.2

Margin 17.2% 16.7% 16.9% 17.0% 17.2% 17.1%

Operating Cost (Before Depreciation,  
Amortisation and impairment)

14.7 14.4 29.1  13.4 13.1 26.5 

EBITDA (before impairment) 0.5 1.3 1.8 1.3 1.4 2.7

$m                                     FY10             FY11

Current Assets 
Cash 
Other

  
10.9 
29.4

  
10.3 
28.8

40.3 39.1

Non-current assets 5.6 5.8

Total Liabilities 37.9 36.5

Total Net Assets 7.9 8.4

Net Tangible Assets $ millions 4.6 5.2

Net Tangible Assets per Share  
(cents per share)

7.5 8.6

Profit & Loss Highlights

Balance Sheet Highlights

Performance Highlights

Margin Analysis

FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11

Gross margin 16.6% 19.4% 20.3% 16.9% 17.1%
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FY10

GOVERNMENT 
33%*

RETAIL 
18%

AUTOMOTIVE  
2%

EMPLOYMENT 
28%

PROPERTY  
19%

Headcount

FY09 FY10 FY11

267 253 235

FY11

GOVERNMENT 
37%

RETAIL 
3%

AUTOMOTIVE  
2%

EMPLOYMENT 
33%

PROPERTY  
25%

* Includes recategorised billings for Employment Category
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conversation starter #44

“�TELL ME  
ABOUT THE  
REAL YOU...”
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Adcorp, Australia’s largest locally-owned communications group with annual 
billings in excess of $170 million, provides comprehensive agency services to 
all levels of business and government across Australia and New Zealand. In 
recent years we have become the largest supplier of non-campaign advertising 
services to Government, including; Federal, State and Local. 

With a focus on developing effective strategies in all areas of marketing 
communications, Adcorp produces solutions for clients across both traditional 
and emerging media channels. Strong strategy, digital solutions, media 
knowledge and excellent creative, support efficient technology-driven, high 
volume advertising across a network of 11 offices.  This has positioned Adcorp 
as a recognised leader in the markets in which we operate, through our  
single-minded focus towards those who matter most – our clients. 

ABOUT ADCORP

“�WHAT DO 
YOU DO?”
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conversation starter #14

“�WHERE IN THE 
WORLD DID YOU 
LEARN TO DO 
THAT?”
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OUR Services
Marketing

Adcorp’s marketing thinking

The whole point of 
communications is to surpass the 
competition’s chatter, to reach the 
target individual and to stimulate 
the desired response.

In short, to make a difference. 

That is where we believe Adcorp 
is uniquely positioned to plan, 
create and execute the distinctly 
different marketing programs to 
set our clients apart from – and 
ahead of – their competition.

Publicly listed on the ASX,  
Adcorp is Australasia’s leading 
locally-owned full service 
marketing communications group. 
We are recognised as the leader 
in the specialist markets in which 
we operate. 

With a track record encompassing 
30 years and a network that 
spans Australia and New Zealand, 
our resources and infrastructure 
add immensely to the unique 
level of service, efficiency and 
volume we can provide. Adcorp 
offers fresh thinking, enthusiasm 
and innovation in every aspect of 
our business operations. From 
strategic development through 
to creative design, from media 
placement to technology solutions 
– our service is integrated, 
effective and proven. 

We have the expertise, the 
streamlined procedures, the cost 
efficiencies and most importantly 
the highly talented and committed 
team of eclectic skills that  
can – and will – make the  
difference – distinctly! 

Not only that, we apply this 
thinking to a range of specialist 
industry sectors – from 
recruitment advertising to property 
marketing, from government  
non-campaign requirements 
to retail campaigns, and from 
employer branding through to 
social marketing.

Our creative ethos

Creativity isn’t based on 
subjectivity. Nor is it shackled 
to the notion of the “Big Idea”. 
For us, creativity is about finding 
effective solutions for our clients. 

At Adcorp, our approach to the 
creative process encompasses a 
combination of eclectic skills  
and – to put it simply – lots of 
hard work. 

We work with the insights and 
information provided by our 
research and account specialists 
and we treat every project, large 
or small, as something very 
special. Because when it comes 
to spending our client’s money, 
our clients deserve no less. 

So, before we come up with the 
compelling concepts and the 
arresting imagery, we ask lots 
of questions and we listen even 
more. Experience has taught 
us that in the process of really 
crystallising what needs to be 
said to the target consumer,  
even the most innocuous 
questions can deliver the most 
amazing revelations – for the 
most outstanding results. 

Our media impact 

Our media specialists follow 
one simple rule – change is the 
only true constant. Because 
consumers are constantly 
facing new forms of media 
consumption, it’s the role of our 
media specialists to harness the 
delivery power of every type of 
communication, from traditional 
media onwards.

We’re proud of the unique 
capabilities and resources 
we’ve developed over 30 years 
of predominantly “traditional” 
media planning, but we’re equally 
confident in our expanding 
portfolio of new media expertise. 

Our understanding of “young” 
and “old” and how we augment 
one with the other, is a unique 
feature of Adcorp’s approach to 
media identification, selection 
and of course expenditure. As 
with our creative approach, 
every communications project 
is developed and implemented 
according to its individual 
challenges and opportunities. 
Before any dollars are spent,  
all avenues are explored. 

HERE!
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Strategic insights

As heightened consumer 
sophistication and interaction  
on a number of levels  
increasingly influence marketing 
planning, the strategy behind 
every communication is the  
telling difference. 

Quite simply, even though we 
approach every communications 
project on its individual merits, 
we are fully cognisant of the 
importance every interaction  
has in the cumulative  
brand relationship. 

That’s why we invest heavily –  
in time and resources – in 
ensuring the strategic thinking 
and planning behind everything 
we do is integral to establishing, 
building and consistently 
reinforcing relationships 
between the brand and its target 
individuals. Every journey starts 
with the first step. 

Our methodology in developing 
compelling, sustainable and 
honest employer brands for major 
clients is proven across all our 
markets, and all industry sectors.

Digital solutions

Communication never stops 
evolving, and nor do we. We have 
recently reviewed and bolstered 
our digital capability to bring the 
benefits of the digital landscape 
to our clients – and the results 
are already showing. Created 
by award winners and genuine 
leaders in their field, our team 
delivers results-driven strategy, 
thought provoking creativity, and 
online web and mobile solutions 
that put our clients in touch with 
their audience.

Our digital expertise is in:

• online analysis 

• web solution strategy 

• design and development 

• online advertising 

• hosting and support 

Executions that may form part  
of your solution include campaign 
sites, custom web solution, 
static and rich media banners, 
social networking environments, 
and database marketing tools. 
Additionally, we specialise in 
content management systems, 
search engine optimisation, and 
the creation and execution of 
videos, podcasts, games  
and challenges. 

The result of digital is the 
seamless extension and 
reinforcement of your branding, 
marketing and communications 
strategy that can deliver tracked 
results every click of the way. 

Technology solutions 

Adcorp has been a market 
leader in the development and 
provision of web-based software 
applications for the advertising 
and marketing industry for  
over a decade.

Our career.com.au application 
was the first Jobs Board ever 
built in Australia and our deep 
knowledge and experience 
in building job posting and 
applicant tracking technology 
solutions ensures we provide 
flexible, scalable, customisable 
recruitment marketing solutions 
to meet the specific needs of 
our recruitment marketing clients 
across all sectors. 

Our Connect2 platform 
provides the most advanced 
advertising management 
system in Australasia. Connect2 
enables you to achieve a 
reduction in the total cost of 
your communications, eliminates 
errors and drastically reduces 
turn-around times – all while 
you maintain the integrity of 
your brand and control the 
accountability of every  
marketing dollar. 



19

conversation starter #18

“�HOW DO YOU 
MATCH THE  
MESSAGE TO  
THE MEDIUM?”
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“�WHAT DID 
YOU DO 
AT WORK 
TODAY?”

conversation starter #11
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Integrated campaign

Auckland Transport

Auckland Transport was formed as an 
organisation when the Auckland Councils 
joined together to become the “Supercity”  
or Auckland Council as it is known. It runs  
as a separate entity and once it was  
formed, needed its own identity.

Auckland Transport enlisted Adcorp to 
create an Employer Brand for them. As 
this was a completely new organisation, 
which much bigger projects than previous 
smaller transport agencies, there were a lot 
of benefits that needed to be portrayed as 
well as the feeling that the organisation was 
working to create a better Auckland.

Adcorp looked at the various types of 
transport that Auckland Transport was 
involved with, from buses to cycle lanes;  
and motorway upgrades to ferries. The client 
wanted people to be a major focus in the 
campaign, so we worked on people using the 
various modes of transport in Auckland to get 
to major Auckland destinations and having a 
good experience along the way.

We allocated a mode of transport, location 
and colour to each area of the organisation 
that would be recruiting, thus creating a suite 
of templates easily identifiable as being part 
of the same organisation, yet easily  
separated to use for a campaign for a 
particular area of the business.

We have for example created a microsite 
for the engineering part of the business, 
using the allocated imagery and colours.  
This microsite for Roading Engineers was 
supported by print ads and online banner 
advertising, using the branding to link all  
parts of the campaign together.
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Integrated Campaign

Telstra - Option City  
Graduate Recruitment

Our research indicated that in order to 
reach our desired demographic we needed 
to dramatically challenge the perception 
of Telstra as a graduate employer. The key 
insight from graduates working within  
Telstra was that they didn’t realise how  
large and how many different career 
opportunities were available to them before 
joining. Taking this into consideration and 
the fact that the Telstra employee  
population is bigger than some towns  
and cities in Australia, we created  
“Option City”. 

The campaign had a large online  
presence including an interactive microsite –  
www.optioncity.com.au and social media 
channels in addition to the regular  
channels. For graduate career fairs,  
the Option City bag was a much sought-
after item with the target audience. 

Results

The campaign increased the quality of 
applicants to the program plus we saw an 
increase in the take up of first round offers. 
The campaign was also a finalist in the 
Fairfax Employment Media Awards (FEMAs) 
in three categories; Best Campaign, Best 
Integrated Campaign and Best Graduate 
Campaign. The campaign was also 
awarded 3rd place in the Online Media 
Category in the Creative Excellence Awards 
that recognise and celebrate the best 
recruitment initiatives globally.
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Integrated Campaign

Downer New Zealand  
Rebuild Christchurch

As part of The Christchurch Alliance, bought 
together to rebuild and construct a new and 
stronger Christchurch, Downer New Zealand 
had an urgent need for experienced Project 
Managers and Engineers to assist with the 
rebuild. Following the results of a recruitment 
drive onshore in New Zealand and coupled 
with our knowledge of the New Zealand 
Engineering market, it became evident that 
this skill set was not available in the quantities 
required, and further search would need to 
occur offshore.

With this, a microsite and integrated 
campaign was developed with a message 
that would appeal. Targeting the UK market, 
Downer New Zealand were either looking for 
Project Managers and Engineers who wanted 
to come to New Zealand and be involved 
in this once in a lifetime project, or expats 
who could be swayed to come home and 
contribute to the rebuild effort. Due to the 
overseas audience, we needed to make a 
high quantity of information readily available 
to candidates at all hours of the day, and 
therefore the microsite was a perfect  
solution for this.

Targeted banner ads and job listings were 
placed on niche sites targeting Project 
Managers and Engineers, and as a result, 
Downer New Zealand filled the majority of 
roles advertised.

This great example of Downer New  
Zealand’s Engineering work sparked the idea 
to develop the microsite into an online portal, 
showcasing the variety of projects Downer 
New Zealand is working on. As a result, we 
have now added: The Downer New Zealand 
Apprenticeship Programme, and The Downer 
New Zealand Telecommunication offering, 
attracting overseas candidates for roles  
within this sector.
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Integrated Campaign

Church of Christ Care -  
Marketing Strategy

Church of Christ Care Aged Care approached 
Adcorp to help them develop a marketing strategy 
that would be used by their marketing team to 
position them as an Aged Care provider of choice 
now and in the future.

Adcorp developed a complete brand strategy 
that communicated the positive brand that was 
experienced by consumers. 

The brand strategy has:

• �Established the market position of Churches of 
Christ Care Aged Care products.

• �Uniquely positioned our Aged Care products in 
the market to separate them from their  
nearest competitors.

• �Identified primary and secondary target markets 
and their media consumption habits.

 
• �Defined Churches of Christ Care Aged Care 

brand, and the hierarchy of its product  
messaging enabling growth of brand equity  
and brand awareness. 

• �Developed identifiable brand values in the  
market place.

• �Contributed to the evaluation of marketing  
tactics including their effectiveness in achieving 
the intended objectives.

• �Ensured that all marketing, advertising and 
promotional material accurately reflect the  
Church of Christ Care Aged Care brand.

• �The marketing strategy aims to result in  
sustained business growth and is developed  
with a long-term vision in mind.
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Integrated Campaign

WA Police

The challenge presented to Adcorp was simple – 
recruiting an additional 90 officers to meet security 
requirements of hosting CHOGM 2011. This was in 
addition to 60 officers to meet planned growth and 
attrition, requiring a total 150 to be recruited over 
three months to February 2011. 

Using an integrated campaign approach across key 
media channels we encouraged passive job seekers 
to “step forward”. The campaign focusing on real 
aspects of the training and job, used traditional 
press advertising in the recruitment section, 
advertising in the news sections, a microsite and in 
a first in WA, we placed Ad-Notes (a form of post-it 
note advertising) onto the front page of newspapers. 

For ongoing recruitment efforts, we’ve also 
produced a series of television commercials and 
continue to refine and develop the campaign. 

Results

848 recruit applications were received between  
Dec 1, 2010 and March 31, 2011 - 98 applications 
more than required to meet our first recruitment 
target of 150 police officers. Based on a successful 
applicant ratio of 5:1, this meant that we are likely to 
recruit an additional 20 police officers.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A first in the history of police recruiting in Western 
Australia was that this campaign saw a record 
number of applications (277) received in one month, 
eclipsing the previous best result of 146 applications 
during the last major recruitment drive in 2008.
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Design and Advertising

Cabcharge - FASTCARD launch

Cabcharge engaged Adcorp to create the 
name and branding for their new taxi charge 
card. Cabcharge has revolutionised the way 
in which taxi fares are paid by introducing 
a contactless card – FASTCARD. Adcorp 
created the marketing campaign to launch 
the card including the name, design of the 
card, all associated application forms,  
terms and conditions booklets, website, 
online digital campaign including banners  
and SEM and competition. 

Results

400 applications received via the website 
within a week of launching.

No waiting. No signing.

You need 
to be fast.

You don’t
want to wait

around.

Spend less time in a taxi with contactless technology that makes 
paying for your fare as easy as Tap to Pay and be on your way...

Cabcharge leaves other cards behind.

fastcard.com.au

TM
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Worley faces stiff rivalry on PSN
EXCLUSIVE

BRETT CLEGG
TRACY LEE
ACQUISITIONS

WORLEYPARSONS remains on
the hunt for offshore acquisitions
but may have been trumped in its
pursuit of global contractor Pro-
duction Services Network (PSN).

The Australian understands
that Worley has been actively

looking at acquiring the privately
owned, Aberdeen-based PSN for
as much as $800 million but has
faced fierce competition from
another Scottish player, John
Wood Group.

When asked about PSN, Wor-
leyParsons declined to make any
specific comment.

‘‘The company frequently
assesses acquisition opportunit-
ies.

‘‘However, it is company policy
not to comment on market
rumoursorspeculation,’’ a spokes-

man said. PSN was formed in
2006 as a $US280m management
buyout led by chief executive Bob
Keiller from US giant KBR Hal-
liburton and now operates in 25
countries with an order book of
close to $US3.1 billion.

Since the buyout PSN has
acquiredGrassoProductionMan-
agement in the Gulf of Mexico
and Canadian oil sands player
Tartan Engineering.

According to its website, PSN
posted revenues last year of
$1.152bn and earnings before in-

terest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation of $US85.5m.

An acquisition by Worley
would have been the largest since
its $1.2bn purchase of Canada’s
Colt Companies in early 2007 and,
before that, its merger with E&C
Parsons in 2004.

Worley has a market capitalis-
ation of more than $6.2bn and, ac-
cording to Thomson Reuters, is
trading on an enterprise value to
EBITDA multiple of about 14.8
times.

Worley is one of a number of

locally listed global companies
that are considering how to take
advantage of the Australian dollar
tradingnearparitywith thegreen-
back to execute offshore
acquisitions.

The engineering services group
has pursued a strategy of leverag-
ing itself to the burgeoning ac-
tivity in the energy sector and ear-
lier this month Worley was
awarded a $580m contract for
British gas giant BG Group’s
$US15bn Queensland LNG pro-
ject.

Twoweeks agoPSNwon a five-
year contract worth more than
$US500m ($513.9m) with Shell in
Britain to provide integrated ser-
vices to eight of the oil giant’s
North Sea assets.

Worley, which enjoyed solid
profit rises since its listing in 2002,
hit a hurdle last financial year
when net profit declined by 26 per
cent to $291.1m.

At the annual meeting, chief
executive John Grill promised
shareholders an improvement
this financial year.

National standard
to simplify projects
ANNABEL HEPWORTH
CONSTRUCTION

A FEDERAL and state working
group meets today to consider
national recognition of building
contractors’ qualifications.

The plan is expected to boost
competition in the construction
industry.

The Council of Australian
Governments infrastructure
working group will meet today on
plans for a ‘‘national pre-
qualification system’’ on tenders
for road, bridge and non-
residential construction projects.

The system would harmonise
requirements for these projects
— a measure that Infrastructure
Minister Anthony Albanese
hopes would encourage com-
petition in Australia’s construc-
tion sector.

Currently, contractors have to
prove their financial and tech-
nical bona fides in each state they
want to work in because each
operates its own pre-qualification
system.

It is understood that the states
have conducted design work and
finalised industry consultations
on the plan, and have indicated
they are ready to adopt the nat-
ional scheme from January 1.

Today’s meeting is expected to
settle ongoing arrangements bet-
ween the states.

This reform will give effect to
an agreement struck in February

last year. The plan comes as the
federal government appears to be
setting its sights on the duopoly in
Australia’s construction market.

The sector is dominated by
Leighton Holdings and its sub-
sidiaries and Valemus (formerly
Bilfinger Berger Australia) and its
subsidiaries.

A sharemarket float of Valem-
us was withdrawn earlier this
year, but market watchers expect
the company’s listing to go ahead
next year.

Mr Albanese told a lunch of
the Italian Construction Con-
tractors Association in Rome ear-
lier this month that Infrastruc-
ture Australia was continuing to
update its long-term pipeline of
projects that could be of interest
to foreign investors.

‘‘Weneed toencourage foreign
investment,’’ Mr Albanese told
the lunch.

‘‘Australia has a very welcom-
ing attitude to foreign investment
and we have an open regulatory
regime in this regard.’’

Projects that have included
foreign expertise include the de-
sign of the $812 million Superway
in Adelaide, for which Italian-
based Rizzani de Eccher provided
advice.

It is understood that Rizzani de
Eccher is considering setting up
an office in Australia.

Brisbane’s Northern Link road
and tunnel project was won by a
consortium involving Spanish
firm Gellah.

Super fundmerger
sets a $28bn record

Largest funds

AUSTRALIANSUPER 32.7

QSUPER 29.3

COLONIAL FIRST STATE -FIRSTCHOICE 28.7

MLC MASTERKEY - BUS 28.6

FIRST STATE SUPER / HEALTH SUPER COMBINED 27.0

AMP FLEXIBLE SUPER 26.0

UNISUPER 25.6

ONE PATH 25.6

BT SUPERWRAP 20.2

REST INDUSTRY 17.6

Source: SuperRatings

Fund name Fund size $bn

* Note that figures are as at 30/6/2010. Where this data is not available, 
the most recent available data has been used.

‘We believe we’ve
found a strategic
and cultural fit’
MICHAEL DWYER
FIRST STATE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

SUPERANNUATION:First State
Super and Health Super have
announced plans to join forces, in
the largest merger of
superannuation funds in
Australia.

The two not-for-profit
industry funds will create a
$28 billion pool of
superannuation assets, the
largest deal by dollar value
according to research firm
SuperRatings.

The merger of the $20bn
NSW-based First State Super
and its smaller Victorian-based
cousin will create the fifth-largest
fund by asset size and, at about
750,000 members, the seventh
biggest by membership.

In dollar terms, the deal
trumps the birth of Australia’s
largest fund, the $33bn
AustralianSuper, created in 2006
through the merger of three
super funds.

The merger is part of a drive
for consolidation as
superannuation funds seek to
compete on cost,offset rising
administration costs, and reduce
pressures from federal
government reforms.

First State already claims to be
the cheapest super fund.

Reforms architect Jeremy
Cooper, chair of the Cooper
review into the superannuation
sector, has called for there to be
fewer, larger super funds.

Funds also seek to gain an
edge through mergers by
increasing their power to buy
large unlisted assets such as
commercial property and

infrastructure. SuperRatings
chief Jeff Bresnahan said the
merger was a sign of things to
come.

‘‘Mergers have been much
promised, but very little delivered
in the last five years,’’ he said.
‘‘There have been a lot of planned
mergers that have been
abandoned.’’

A major problem was aligning
the interests of a diverse
membership base on a combined
board. First State covers
members across the NSW public
service including health workers,

police and teachers, while Health
Super members are drawn from
the health and community
services sectors. First State chief
executive Michael Dwyer, who
will head the new entity, said his
fund had held merger discussions
with a number of funds but had
not found the right partner. ‘‘We
believe we’ve found a strategic
and cultural fit,’’ he said.

Mr Bresnahan said the
merger, if successful, would
strengthen the funds’ hand
against their competitor, the
health industry super fund
HESTA. The funds aim to
complete the merger by June.

GEOFFREYNEWMAN

Bank competition hot, says Norris
RICHARD GLUYAS
BANKING

DAVID GERAGHTY

Ralph Norris defended the big banks at an Australian British Chamber of Commerce lunch

COMPETITION between the
big four banks is more intense
than ever, as second-tier banks
and credit unions and building
societiesalso take on the majors,
Commonwealth Bank chief
executive Ralph Norris has said.

As Labor and the Coalition
sought to outbid each other on
proposals to boost competition
after this month’s controversial
roundof super-sizemortgagerate
increases, Mr Norris sought to
seize back the initiative.

He told an Australian British
Chamber of Commerce lunch in
Melbourne was ‘‘significant’’
competition, and it was wrong to
say the industry was earning
‘‘super-profits’’.

Stripping out non-banking op-
erations of the major lenders, he
said, the return on total assets was
about 0.75 per cent.

Return on equity, further-
more, was ‘‘not much more than
half’’ the level reported by the
mining and retail industries, and
was around the mid-point of the
top 100 companies nationally.

‘‘I don’t think you have seen as
much competition between the
majors in the last year or two as
you have seen in the history of the
majors,’’ Mr Norris said.

‘‘A lot of the accusations and
criticisms’’ on competition ‘‘are
pretty much fact-free’’.

The Commonwealth chief,
who took out full-page news-
paper advertisements to correct
what he saw as misreported com-
ments about foreclosures, said
the last thing he wanted was to
sell anyone up.

Less than half of the thousands
of people Commonwealth had
helped with suspended repay-
ments over the past 18-24 months
were still financially stressed.

Asked how many foreclosures
there had been this year, Mr Nor-
ris said: ‘‘We have 1.3-1.4 million
home loan borrowers. I have to
say we’re talking about
0.0000001 per cent.’’

The Commonwealth chief also
warned about the debilitating
economic impact of poor policy
outcomes from prolonged min-
ority government.

Minority governments in
some European countries over
the past 20-40 years had resulted
in the ‘‘tail wagging the dog’’, with
political power bought through
introduction of pensions for
people retiring in their early 50s.

‘‘I look at countries like
Australia that have shown great
fiscal discipline and not got

themselves caught out,’’ Mr Nor-
ris said. ‘‘Certainly you have to be
aware that social welfare systems
don’t go from being safety nets to
habits.

‘‘In parts of Europe it has be-
come a habit.’’

Excessive regulation, which
sometimes had unintended
consequences, was also targeted

by thebanker, echoingcomments
by RAMS founder John King-
horn. Mr Norris said consumer
protection legislation had cost
the Commonwealth $40 million,
and created a barrier to entry that
helped convince Mr Kinghorn to
stay out of the mortgage market.

Moves to regulate signalling
by banks on interest-rate in-

creases were misconceived as
well, Mr Norris said. ‘‘One of the
difficulties we have is that a per-
son in my role is asked about the
outlook,’’ he said.

‘‘Obviously, interest rates are
part of that outlook, and it would
be difficult to decide what would
be price signalling versus matters
of interest.’’

Advertising pick-up givesWAN $23.5m profit
CYNTHIA KOONS
DOW JONES NEWSWIRES

WEST Australian Newspapers’
first-quarternetprofit rose2.6per
cent to $23.5 million as advertis-
ing revenue increased.

Management characterised
theperiodas ‘‘unusual’’ givencon-
fusion around the mining tax, the
indecisive federal election and
change of prime minister — all of

which had contributed to fluctu-
ations in advertising.

Net revenue rose 3.1 per cent to
$102.4m. Net consolidated circu-
lation revenue was down 2.1 per
cent to $19m in the quarter.

The media company posted a
net profit of $23.5m for the three
months to September 30, up from
$22.9m in the previous corre-
sponding period.

Consolidated advertising rev-
enue was up 7.3 per cent on the

previous corresponding period to
$76.8 million.

WAN’s largest business, The
West Australian newspaper, re-
ported an increase in advertising
volumes and margin.

This was despite the negative
effect on advertising from the un-
certainty created by the proposed
resources super-profits tax,
change of prime minister and the
indecisive result of the federal
election, WAN chief executive

Chris Warton said. ‘‘From early
May to the formation of govern-
ment in mid-September, our con-
sumers and advertisers appeared
to adopt a ‘holding pattern’
stance,’’ he said.

‘‘Over the last year, we have ta-
ken costs out on a sustainable
basis, invested in our editorial tal-
ent and in systems to improve
both our customer service and
our productivity.’’
ADDITIONALREPORTING: AAP

BuoyantMacarthur
waterproofs price
MATT CHAMBERS
MINING

MACARTHUR Coal saved itself
from yesterday’s rout of mining
shares by confirming that first-
half profit and sales were yet to be
hit by heavy rains that have affec-
ted other Queensland miners.

Chief financial officer Graham
Yerbury said the Brisbane-based
miner still expected to triple first-
half net profit to between
$115 million and $125m, based on
the production and sale of be-
tween 2.5 million and 2.7 million
tonnes of coal.

‘‘Despite seasonal wet weath-
er, Macarthur currently remains
on track to reach (its full-year)
sales target of 5 million tonnes,
with a target of 93 per cent low
volatile PCI coal sales,’’ Mr
Yerbury said in a company pres-
entation.

Macarthur produces pulver-
ised (PCI) coal that steel mills in-
ject into their blast furnaces.

Heavy rains before the
Queensland wet season have al-
ready forced Xstrata and Anglo
American to declare force ma-
jeure on coking coal production.

BHP Billiton, the state’s big-
gest coal producer, has also flag-
ged lower second-quarter pro-
duction because of the rain.

The unseasonable rain, and
expectations of a wet summer,
have led some analysts to predict

a rerun of 2007-08, when
Queensland’s coking coal pro-
duction was slashed, leading to a
tripling in annually set coking
coal prices to $US300 a tonne.

Mr Yerbury said sales and
costs could still be affected by wet
weather or reduced throughput
at the Dalrymple Bay Coal Ter-
minal near Mackay. Macarthur
shares rose 1c to $11.41.

Macarthur probably would
have made significant gains if the
rest of the mining sector had not
slid on concerns over Chinese ef-
forts to damp inflation and the
size of an expected bailout of
Ireland.

The broader market ended
down 1.6 per cent, while miners
generally dropped between 2 and
4 per cent.

Mr Yerbury said Chinese steel
production remained higher than
pre-global financial levels, but
had slowed in the September
quarter.

This was because of seasonal
weakness, government closure of
inefficient mills and a drive to re-
duce power consumption.

‘‘However strong growth is
forecast from China, India and
Brazil,’’ he said.

Yesterday Credit Suisse up-
graded its recommendation on
Macarthur from underperform to
neutral. The reason for the up-
grade was a 10 per cent drop in
Macarthur’s share price in the
past quarter.

You
don’t
want
to wait
around

THE NATION 7THE AUSTRALIAN, WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 17, 2010
www.theaustralian.com.au

Electricity
sector in
need of
investors
SID MAHER

JULIA Gillard has attacked claims
that pricing carbon will increase
electricity charges, arguing under-
investment in the sector is con-
tributing to higher costs and the
only way to attract the necessary
investment is to put a price on
carbon.

The Prime Minister’s com-
ments in question time came as
258 major international investors
representing $US15 trillion
($15.1 trillion) in funds made a call
overnight for governments to take
action to spur private investment
into low-carbon technologies.

The move came as they sought
to increase pressure on the inter-
national community before the
Cancun climate change summit in
Mexico, which begins this month.

Ms Gillard, speaking in ques-
tion time, said under-investment
in the electricity sector was con-
tributing to price rises and cited
comments by opposition
resources spokesman Ian Macfar-
lane that electricity prices would
double in five to seven years no
matter who was in government to
back her case.

The move was an attempt to
inoculate the government from
opposition attacks that the emis-
sions trading scheme was a ‘‘great
big new tax’’ and that pricing car-
bon would automatically and
directly lead to electricity price
rises.

It follows Monday’s decision to
ask the Productivity Commission
to examine effective carbon prices
in other countries as part of the
Prime Minister’s attempt to dis-
mantle the Coalition’s anti-carbon
pricing campaign.

‘‘So the policy question that
genuinely confronts us is that, as
we need to see investment in elec-
tricity, we know that investment is
now being held up because of cur-
rent uncertainty,’’ Ms Gillard said.

‘‘Long-term investment is not
going to be made until we answer
the question about pricing car-
bon.’’

The competitiveness of energy
that was generated from gas and
from renewable energy sources
such as solar needed to be im-
proved to make them a greater
part of the energy mix.

The international investors,
from North America, Europe,
Asia, Australia, Latin America and
Brazil — which include financial
giants Allianz and HSBC Global
Asset Management — warned
that consistent and sustained
government policy was needed to
drive private-sector investment in
low-carbon technology.

‘‘Trillions of dollars of invest-
ment are required over the coming
decades. Current investment falls
well short of what is needed,’’ the
statement said.

Private investment was needed
to close the investment gap.

‘‘Private investment will only
flow at the scale and pace necess-
ary if it is supported by clear, cred-
ible and long-term policy frame-
works that shift the risk-reward
balance in favour of less carbon-
intensive investment,’’ the state-
ment said.

Nathan Fabian, chief executive
of the Investor Group on Climate
Change, which represents about
$600 billion of Australian assets,
said Australia stood to reap a sig-
nificant investment windfall from
implementing sustainable policies
on climate change.

Asian investment interests
were looking for places to invest in
renewable technologies but
uncertainty was causing projects
to be put on hold.

He said unless the Australian
government implemented a sus-
tainable policy on climate change,
the nation faced the risk of
Australian investors looking off-
shore for renewable-energy in-
vestment opportunities.

Climate action will
benefit us: BHP boss
ANDREW BURRELL

BHP Billiton chairman Jac Nasser
has called on the federal govern-
ment to act immediately on cli-
mate change, telling his share-
holders the world’s biggest mining
company stands to benefit from
the inevitable shift to a low-
emissions global economy.

Echoing BHP chief executive
officer Marius Kloppers’s recent
call for Australia to act on a carbon
tax before the rest of the world, Mr
Nasser said Australia’s emissions-
intensive sectors would maintain
or improve their competitiveness
if the country moved quickly to
slash its carbon footprint.

‘‘Economies that defer action
are likely to face higher long-term
costs as global investment is
redirected to early movers,’’ Mr
Nasser said.

‘‘As one of the most carbon-
intensive economies, if Australia
acts strongly to reduce its carbon
footprint, its emissions-intensive
sectors are likely to maintain or
improve their competitiveness in a
low-emissions world.’’

Mr Nasser was speaking at
BHP’s annual general meeting in
Perth, the first time he has ad-
dressed the company’s share-
holders in Australia since taking

over from Don Argus as chairman
in March.

The meeting was dominated by
shareholders grilling Mr Nasser
and Mr Kloppers about BHP’s
plans to mine uranium at Yeelirrie
in Western Australia, its record in
dealing with traditional owners,
and its poor safety record on mine
sites.

Mr Nasser admitted that BHP’s
progress had been slow in lower-
ing carbon dioxide emissions from
coal through the use of carbon
capture and storage technology.

But he said the company, which
has both uranium and natural gas
assets, stood to benefit as new so-
lutions were found.

MrNasser stoppedshortof call-
ing for a nuclear power industry to
be developed in Australia, saying it
was a matter for the federal gov-
ernment.

‘‘Where governments support
nuclear power we will sell into
those markets,’’ he said.

Mr Kloppers repeated his re-
cent call for a revenue-neutral car-
bon tax to reduce emissions.

Outside the meeting, Mr
Nasser said Mr Kloppers’s recent
speech on climate change had
been endorsed by the BHP board.
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Premium football ‘stays on free TV’

KYM SMITH

Seven’s JamesWarburton, Nine’s Jeff Browne, and Ten’s Grant Blackley at Parliament House last night

JAMES CHESSELL
LANAI VASEK

NRL chief executive David Gal-
lop says free-to-air television net-
works will retain access to pre-
mium matches if proposed
changes to anti-siphoning rules
are approved by cabinet.

The NRL and AFL are backing
plans by Communications Minis-
ter Stephen Conroy to allow pay-
TV operator Foxtel to bid directly
for games it sources now from
FTA commercial networks.

The current anti-siphoning
rules, which were discussed in
caucusyesterdayandaredue tobe
considered by cabinet next week,

give the FTA networks first right
to bid for all AFL and NRL games.

The major football codes say
that allowing pay-TV to bid di-
rectly for games would increase
the amount of revenue generated
from the sale of lucrative broad-
cast rights and allow them to bet-
ter fund grassroots organisations.
The FTA networks argue the
codes could be tempted to give
blockbuster games to Foxtel.

News Limited, publisher of The
Australian, is a shareholder in
Foxtel and the NRL.

‘‘Our track record indicates
that we we will always have high
quality games on free-to-air and
we’ve indicated to the govern-
ment that wanting to introduce

some more flexibility into the sys-
temwon’t changethat,’’MrGallop
said.

Senator Conroy met with FTA
chief executives at a cocktail party
yesterday evening organised by
lobby group Free TV to mark the
digital switchover.

He has described as a ‘‘non-
sense’’ suggestions that block-
buster AFL games would be lost to
FTA television.

‘‘The public interest needs to be
served,’’ Free TV chairman
Wayne Goss said.

‘‘I would have thought that
they (pay-TV) would have an obli-
gation to their shareholders to try
and get the best games so isn’t it
common sense that people who

don’t have pay-TV would miss
out.’’

Senator Conroy is also con-
sidering giving FTA networks the
right to showlistedsportondigital
multi-channels.

Exactly how games would be
divided between FTA and pay-TV
is yet to be resolved.

The FTA networks believe the
federal government should give a
guarantee that premium games
will not go to pay-TV in the new
legislation.

There is speculation Mr Con-
roy might have to roll over the
current anti-siphoning list, which
expires on December 31, because
the new legislation will be delayed
until next year.

Julia unleashes her
inner Paul Keating
SAMANTHA MAIDEN
DESPATCH BOX

IT was a bare-knuckled Julia
Gillard unleashed in question
time.

Was she stung by Tony
Abbott’s partyroom declaration
that Labor would have a
‘‘miserable Christmas’’?

Whatever it was, her riposte to
the Coalition’s hammering of the
Labor Lost theme seemed to
involve flicking the switch to Paul
Keating.

Big Joe Hockey was dismissed
as an ‘‘incompetent minister in an
incompetent government’’.

Tony Abbott was compared
with Linda Evangelista, the
supermodel who famously
declared she wouldn’t get out of
bed for less than $10,000, or in his
case, a focus group.

The opposition was ‘‘stewing
in its own juices of bitterness,’’ the
Prime Minister suggested.

It’s the sort of thing that would
have been left to Lindsay Tanner
in the past, but now he’s gone and

no one’s stepped up to play
parliamentary attack dog.

The aggro proved viral, with
the Speaker, Harry Jenkins, in
meltdown mode, warning Liberal
MPs left, right and centre before
thundering ‘‘The member for
Goldstein shall resume his seat!’’
in a clear breach of standard
decibel levels.

Naturally, the manager of
opposition business Chris Pyne,
who ‘‘prattles on’’ according to
the Speaker, was identified for
special attention and ‘‘warned for
his disruptive behaviour’’.

Pyne, whose use of the term
‘‘slag and bag answers’’ in relation
to the PM is on the verge of
emerging as a cult drinking
game, scored a tactical win,
however, when he moved for an
extension of time for the Foreign
Minister.

Kevin Rudd’s discussion of
global warming was a bittersweet
reminder of the days when MPs
would chatter among themselves
during his answers.

When he concluded, Pyne
moved for more time with an evil
grin plastered all over his face,
leaving confused Labor MPs to
fall silent when asked whether
they opposed it.

The former prime minister
kept it short and sweet, returning
to the despatch box to Coalition
cheers.
maidens@theaustralian.com.au

Thwarted diplomat battles for disabled son
PATRICIA KARVELAS

Hugh Borrowman

THE career diplomat blocked by
former prime minister Kevin
Rudd from becoming ambassador
to Germany is at war with the Gil-
lard government over its plans to
stop his severely disabled son from
living overseas with him and
collecting the disability support
pension.

Hugh Borrowman withdrew
from the offer of a post to Sweden
after learning his disabled son
would lose his pension. This week,
he testified at a Senate inquiry
against the new laws, which would
take $329.20 a week away from his
son if he moved overseas with his
parents.

The Gillard government is try-
ing to close the loophole that
allows DSP recipients to receive
the pension if they live overseas,

saving taxpayers $3 million a year.
It argues the measure will affect
only about 1000 DSP recipients
who reside overseas and under-
take regular return trips to Austra-
lia every 13 weeks for short periods
to maintain DSP qualifications.

A spokeswoman for Commu-
nity Affairs Minister Jenny Mack-
lin said: ‘‘This is an issue that has
been raised at the Senate inquiry,
and we will consider the com-
mittee’s report when it is tabled.’’

Mr Rudd sparked outrage last
year when he took the unusual
step of intervening to block Mr
Borrowman’s role as ambassador
to Berlin because he did not speak
German.

Mr Borrowman yesterday told
The Australian he would not take
an overseas posting until the issue
was resolved. He also objects to
the rule that forces him to bring his
son home every 13 weeks.

‘‘This is an adult Australian who
I happen to take care of,’’ he said.
‘‘When we are posted, I have to
take him because I have no other
choice.’’

He is now the first assistant sec-
retary of the Southeast Asian Div-
isionof theDepartmentofForeign
Affairs in Canberra until the issue
is resolved.

MrBorrowman’s son is congen-
itally intellectually disabled as a
result of a rare genetic syndrome.

By order of the Guardianship and
Management of Property Tri-
bunal of the ACT, Mr Borrowman
has been appointed as his guard-
ian and must take him overseas on
his postings.

He told a Senate inquiry this
week that the laws were akin to a
form of ‘‘social hostage’’.

He said he did not take the post
in Sweden because it was ‘‘hardly
practical to come back to this side
of the world’’.

He said the department also
offered him a package to com-
pensate the family for the per-
ceived loss.

‘‘That is something that we de-
clined on the basis that we were
not prepared to accept a solution
that was particular to us rather
than other people in our situation,
that was particular to that time
and offer, and that was ad hoc
rather than systemic,’’ he said.

Labor to back Greens
on same-sexmotion
SID MAHER

LABOR has neutralised growing
internal divisions on same-sex
marriage in a deal with the Greens
that will allow the party to support
a parliamentary motion on the is-
sue, which does not breach ALP
policy but allows the Greens to
keep it on the public agenda.

Greens MP Adam Bandt ag-
reed to an amendment to his
same-sex marriage motion that
was introduced into the House of
Representatives late on Monday,
which a caucus spokesman said
Labor would be able to support.

Mr Bandt’s original motion had
cited a growing number of coun-
tries that allowed couples of the
same sex to marry and asserted
there was ‘‘widespread support for
equal marriage in the Australian
community’’ before calling on par-
liamentarians to gauge constitu-
ents’ views on marriage equality.

But Labor’s Stephen Jones
moved an amendment that ‘‘calls
onallparliamentarians, consistent
with their duties as represent-
atives, to gauge their constituents’
views on ways to achieve equal
treatment for same-sex couples,
including marriage’’.

While the government will now
be able to support the motion, the
Coalitionyesterday maintained its
opposition to gay marriage, with
legal affairs spokesman George
Brandis telling a joint partyroom
meeting he did not want the issues
of discrimination against homo-
sexuals and gay marriage blurred.

The Coalition opposed all
forms of discrimination against
homosexuals, but believed
marriage was only between a man
and a woman, Senator Brandis
told the partyroom.

The Australian understands Mr
Bandt agreed to the Labor amend-
ment after discussions with the
leader of government business,
Anthony Albanese. Julia Gillard
had been resisting growing public
calls for a conscience vote on the
issue, saying the matter should be
debated and settled at the next
ALP national conference in 2012.

But Labor sources said the new
motion would avoid the need for
MPs toexpressapositiononthe is-
sue before the ALP national con-
ference debate.

The motion came as Indigen-
ous Employment Minister Mark
Arbib denied he was undermining
the Prime Minister on the issue or
that he had faced complaints
about his public call for a for a con-
science vote on same-sex mar-
riage. ‘‘I’ve stated my personal
views on same-sex marriage and
I’ve also stated that I understand
the policy at the moment does not
support that and I work inside the
policy,’’ Senator Arbib said.

Senator Doug Cameron, the
national convenor of Labor’s Left
faction, who has described same-
sex marriage as ‘‘inevitable’’, wel-
comed the amendment put in the
House of Representatives.

‘‘I think it’s good that people are
given the chance to raise issues of
social justice with their constitu-
ents,’’ Senator Cameron said.

Libs keep door ajar to
deals on preferences
FEDERAL Liberals are refusing
to shut the door on preference
deals with the Greens at the next
election despite deep divisions on
the issue in their ranks.

The Victorian party has put
the Greens last on all its lower
house how-to-vote material for
the November 27 state election,
but NSW Liberal leader Barry
O’Farrell is keeping his options
open for the March poll there.

Tony Abbott avoided com-
menting directly on the matter on
Sydney radio yesterday. ‘‘There’s
no doubt that a lot of the Greens’
policies are even worse than the
ALP,’’ theOppositionLeadersaid,
labelling both parties as ‘‘just
halves of the same alliance’’.

‘‘What the Victorians do is
really a matter for them,’’ he
added.

The Greens’ Adam Bandt won
the seat of Melbourne, held by
Labor since federation, at the last

election with Liberal preferences.
Liberals have been angered by his
support of the government, but as
the Greens vote grows and
Labor’s primary support sags,
they know their preferences
could unseat Anthony Albanese
and Martin Ferguson at the next
federal election.

Some Liberals believe forcing
Labor to rely on inner-city
Greens to govern makes the party
less palatable to voters in the
suburbs and the regions. Others
fear it risks entrenching a radical
agenda. One influential Liberal
told The Australian that decisions
on preferencing the Greens had
to be made election by election.

Almost 80 per cent of Greens
preferences went to Labor at the
federal poll. Liberal sources sug-
gested the party would be more
likely to preference the Greens if
they produced ‘‘split tickets’’.
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Teachers hail school camps plan
PIA AKERMAN
MILANDA ROUT

PRINCIPALS and teachers have
applauded the Brumby govern-
ment’s plan to follow in the foot-
steps of top private schools and
sendallYear9studentsaway from
home for a two-week camp.

Premier John Brumby yester-
day announced the $208 million
proposal for all government
school Year 9 students to receive a
term of life skills classes as well a
camp either in the city or country.

It is part of a strategy to keep
teenagers engaged in education at

a time when experts say they are
least interested in learning and
often drop out of school.

‘‘The Year 9 experience will
takestudentsoutof theclassroom,
exposing them to real-life chal-
lenges,’’ Mr Brumby said yester-
day. ‘‘I want our schools to teach
our young people life skills — how
to save, how to lead, how to help
their community.’’

Victorian State Secondary
Principals Association president
Brian Burgess said many state
schools already ran similar pro-
grams, following in the footsteps
of elite schools such as Geelong
Grammar, which holds Year 9 at

its Timbertop campus. ‘‘You talk
to any teacher and they’ll tell you
Year 8 and Year 9 are the times
when kids are trying to find their
own place in the world and are
moving to being more indepen-
dent,’’ Mr Burgess said.

‘‘During that process there are
lots of tensions.’’

He said the $2000 per student
allowance was a reasonable
amount, which would suffice for
large groups..

The policy will begin in one-
third of government high schools
in2012, extending to 60per cent in
2013 and all schools by 2014.

Australian Education Union

Victorian branch president Mary
Bluett was ‘‘absolutely delighted’’
with the policy.

‘‘All kids struggle to stay en-
gaged at that age because of the
age they’re at,’’ she said.

‘‘It’s a fantastic policy to keep
them engaged.’’

For the Year 7 students of
Princes Hill Secondary College in
Carlton, the possibility of attend-
ing a bush camp in two years is al-
ready a near-certainty.

The state school runs similar
trips for Years 7 to 10, often using a
property the school owns at the
base of Mt Buller.

Year 9 students take part in a

wilderness week, with the option
of hiking Cradle Mountain, going
sea kayaking or walking at Wil-
son’s Promontory.

‘‘The kids really do enjoy that
sense of enterprise and challenge,’’
principal John Stone said.

Year 7 student Lejla Kartal said
she looked forward to more
horseriding and bushwalking
through the school.

‘‘It would be a new experience
for lots of people,’’ she said.

The Cradle Mountain week
costs each student about $500 in-
cluding airfares, and they provide
their own food.

Opposition spokesman David

Davis said the ‘‘Brumby Camp’’
plan was an inadequate response
to the pressures on the education
system.

‘‘There are many worthy
priorities in the education sys-
tem,’’ he said.

‘‘Instead of spending a fortune
sending everyone to Brumby
Camp as an election gimmick,
John Brumby should start add-
ressing the shocking problems
that our schools are already
struggling with, including a crip-
pling lack of resources, under-
staffing and a chronic breakdown
in the Education Department,’’
Mr Davis said.

Libs vote
to gain in
country
from deal
Putting the Greens last
will benefit the
Coalition in rural seats,
says a Howard ally

PATRICIA KARVELAS

‘Ted Baillieu has
made a gutsy
decision’
ARTHUR SINODINIS
EX-CHIEF OF STAFF TO JOHN
HOWARD

JOHN Howard’s former chief of
staff, Arthur Sinodinis, has backed
the Coalition’s move to preference
theGreens last inVictoria, arguing
it will boost the conservative vote
in crucial rural seats where the
anti-Greens sentiment is growing.

Mr Sinodinis cautioned against
its becoming a national model,
arguing that the Liberals should
not rule out deals with the Greens
where they get something back.

‘‘This should benefit Liberals by
shoring up its anti-Greens creden-

tials in rural seats,’’ he said.
‘‘Ted Baillieu has made a gutsy

decision, which will help to further
develop his character and leader-
ship in the public mind,’’ he said.

‘‘These decisions are always
looked at in terms of what you get
from the other party and will the
Greens ever accommodate the
Liberals in that regard.’’

A senior Liberal source close to
the Victorian campaign yesterday
conceded that the ALP was likely
to withdraw its resources from
inner-city seats it had been fight-
ing to defend because of the
Greens’ onslaught and put them
into fighting the Coalition in sub-
urban and rural seats.

Another senior Liberal said the
rise of the Greens would hurt the
Coalition because a well-
resourced Greens party would run
vicious anti-conservative cam-
paigns and was just as dangerous
electorally as Labor.

Former Victorian premier Jeff
Kennett has declared the Liberal
Party’s decision to preference the
Greens last will make it harder for
his party to win the upcoming
election, but is motivated by a
campaign to destroy the Greens.

Key senior Victorian Liberals
will push for their Greens-killing
preference deal to become nat-
ional policy, which would make it
unlikely that Greens federal MP
for Melbourne Adam Bandt would
keep his seat at the next federal
poll. Other senior Liberals do not
think the party should be putting
possible election victories at risk to
be ideologically pure.

Brumby tries to soften his prickly image

JON HARGEST

Julia Gillard welcomes Victorian Premier John Brumby on to the stage at Labor’s election launch in Bendigo yesterday

Continued from Page 1

fellow workers in the shearing
shed.

It also featured Labor’s green
credentials, showing Mr Brumby
walking around his farm with his
wife Rosemary, saying: ‘‘We love
trees . . . we love regeneration.’’

Mr Brumby began his
20-minute speech by talking
about Labor values of a ‘‘fair go’’
and a ‘‘helping hand’’ and the need
for the party to evolve.

‘‘Yes, we need to change with
the times,’’ he said, ‘‘but we will al-
ways stay true to our values.’’

The Premier said Labor was the

only party that would address cli-
mate change — a theme notably
absent in Opposition Leader Ted
Baillieu’s launch on Sunday —
and said the key to prosperity of
the state was the next generation.

‘‘Today, young people are plug-
ged into a world where everyone
and everything is connected,’’ Mr
Brumby said.

‘‘But our children also face a
much more complicated future:
socially, economically and envi-
ronmentally.’’

He said education was ‘‘Labor’s
No 1 priority’’ and this was proven
in his funding announcements for
more kindergartens, apprentice-

ships and what he called the ‘‘Year
9 experience’’.

‘‘We will give every child in a
government school an experience
that the top private schools pro-
vide,’’ he said. ‘‘This is about
changing the curriculum and
changing it profoundly so our
Year 9s are properly equipped to
meet the world that awaits them.’’

Ms Gillard told the crowd of
Labor MPs, staffers and members
of the party that every vote count-
ed given the federal election result
in August that left both parties
scrambling to win the support of
the Greens and independents to
form a minority government.

‘‘I know as much as anyone
does in modern politics, every
vote counts,’’ the Prime Minister
said. ‘‘No matter where you live,
no matter who the leading Labor
candidate is, after all that’s hap-
pened in 2010, no one can doubt it,
if you want a Labor government,
you have to vote Labor.’’

Ms Gillard said she was proud
to support the Brumby govern-
ment ‘‘whose best days were
ahead of it’’ and considered the
Premier a friend, despite his
allegiance to the Collingwood
Football Club.

‘‘This election in Victoria mat-
ters.’’ she said. ‘‘Friends, we have

worked toohard for this . . .Onthe
27th of November, I believe Victo-
rians will recognise Labor as the
right choice for the future.’’

Ms Gillard went on to attack
the Victorian opposition, saying
the Coalition could not even be
bothered getting costings on their
proposed policies.

‘‘I have seen this negativity
from certain parties before. I see it
every day, opposition for oppo-
sition’s sake,’’ she said. ‘‘No plans
for the days to come . . . Victoria
needs better than that. Victoria
needs a strong Labor government.
Your vote for Labor has never
mattered more.’’

Gun-mad hillbillies? That’s just Green talk
PIA AKERMAN

STUART McEVOY

Country Alliance upper house candidate Steven Threlfall

DESPITE winning preferences
from Labor as well as the Coalition
in some regional seats in the Vic-
torian election, the Country All-
iance pleads it has been cruelly
typecast as gun-mad hillbillies.

‘‘They’ve called us the gun-
toting climate denialists,’’ Country
Alliance upper house candidate
Steven Threlfall says defiantly.

‘‘That’s what the Greens have
labelled us when they didn’t get
their way on preferences, but our
party has got a broad range of peo-
ple behind it.’’

True, Mr Threlfall does own a
hunting and fishing shop in Shep-
parton. And yes, there is a touch of
Charlton Heston about this bud-
ding politician as he expertly
opens the breach of one of his
prized double-barrelled shotguns.

But Mr Threlfall and Country
Alliance chairman Russell Bate
say their party is about more than
the right to shoot and fish.

They say theirs is the only party
that can pledge to independently
represent the bush.

‘‘We’re always conscious of the
fact there could be times when the

interests of the Coalition, in terms
of meeting city-based needs,
might conflict with the needs of
our rural communities,’’ said Mr
Bate, a former ABC board member
who previously worked in infor-
mation technology.

‘‘We don’t really see ourselves

as on one side or another of the
political landscape. We’re there to
do a job and that’s to represent ru-
ral and regional Victorians, and
the people who take their recre-
ation in those areas.’’

Formed in 2005, the alliance
only pulled 13,329 (0.4 per cent)

first preference votes for the upper
house at the last state election.

This time, supporters are more
optimistic that a growing anti-
Green push in regional areas, and
second preferences flowing from
Labor and the Coalition in some
seats, could show results.

‘‘We’re there to represent our
constituency and make sure as
much as possible that the Greens
and their philosophies don’t end
up prejudicing the people we rep-
resent,’’ Mr Bate said.

The Country Alliance nomi-
nates protecting regional jobs as
its main priority, particularly in
the timber and agricultural indus-
tries, as well as fighting to stop fur-
ther marine and national parks.

The party’s website refers to
‘‘climate change’’ in inverted com-
mas, and Mr Threlfall says he be-
lieves there are ‘‘a lot of question
marks’’ about the issue.

He argues that the water short-
age behind the controversial
Murray-Darling Basin reforms is
‘‘a bit of a beat-up’’.

‘‘They’re catching more Murray
cod now than they were 20 years
ago,’’ he said.

‘‘I think the environment is get-
ting quite their share now.’’

ALLY FORWARD

Kidsmaking fools
of overworked cops

Brad Battin

IN the seat of Gembrook, a
picture-book electorate among
the towering gums of the
Dandenong Ranges, the local
hoods are one step ahead of the
police.

Local resident Mary Farrow
explains how the chronic short-
age of police has allowed street-
smart delinquent kids to exploit
the situation, sometimes with
dangerous consequences.

‘‘They call 000 and tell Emer-
ald police station that there has
been a stabbing in Gembrook,’’
said Ms Farrow, who runs Emer-
ald Community House, which
provides childcare and commu-
nity services.

‘‘This gives them a 30-minute
period to run amok — there was a
situation last month where a
stolen car was set on fire.

‘‘We have a situation where
there are packs of kids who know
how to manipulate the police.’’

The Liberal Party’s candidate
forGembrook, whichLaborholds
by the wafer-thin margin of 0.7
per cent, knows all about the thin-
ning blue line.

Brad Battin, a retired cop, says
there are six police at the Emerald
station with sometimes only one
officer on duty.

He says there has been a strip-
ping of police resources from sub-
urbs such as Gembrook during 11
years of Labor government, and
the local crime rate hasmore than
doubled.

He is running on a hard-nosed
law and order ticket that would

see 20 additional police on the
roster of Emerald station. The
station would also return to 24
hours of operation.

‘‘I’ve done rosters based on my
experience and I am confident
these numbers are necessary,’’ he
told The Australian yesterday.

The Liberals are announcing
similar polices across Mel-
bourne’s suburbs and regional
areas, with a pledge to hire an
extra 1700 police.

A returned Brumby govern-
ment would employ an additional
1966 frontline police officers
across the state.

The sitting Labor MP for
Gembrook, Tammy Lobato, said
she had not heard of local kids
exploiting the staffing situation at
Emerald station.

She said she was optimistic
that incidents such as that repor-
ted by Ms Farrow would become
rare through work with council
and community groups.

However, Mrs Farrow is not
convinced. ‘‘We need to make
sure police are here for those core
periods . . . I would like to see
them fund a program where they
figure out why this is going on,’’
she said.

Coalition promises hospital upgrades
THE Victorian Coalition has
sought to broaden its health cre-
dentials, announcing hospital up-
grades around the state while
softening its opposition to the
national health agreement it had
threatened to tear up.

In the safe Nationals seat of
Rodney, party leader Peter Ryan
announced $40 million to fund re-

development of Echuca’s hospital,
whileCoalition leaderTedBaillieu
pledged$17.85m for the first partof
an upgrade at Kerang Hospital.

Mr Baillieu also committed to
adding an extra 100 beds during
the redevelopment of Box Hill
Hospital, in Melbourne’s north-
eastern suburbs, a move that
Health Minister Daniel Andrews

accused him of copying from the
government. Mr Andrews slam-
med comments from opposition
health spokesman David Davis,
who has reportedly voiced support
for the federal health reform plan
but said the Coalition could win
more than the $900m extra fund-
ing won by John Brumby.
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Life studies through the Leibovitz lens

US President BarackObama and wifeMichelle in theWhite House last year, with daughters Sasha andMalia

Actor Brad Pitt frozen in Las Vegas by the Leibovitz lens, 1994

Annie Leibovitz, the conceptual artist, on a 1997 Paris shoot

ASHLEIGH WILSON

WANDERING through the
White House always feels like a
privilege for Annie Leibovitz.

But having worked with several
presidents over the years, not to
mention dozens of actors, musi-
cians and celebrities, the high-
profile American photographer
admits she prefers to focus her lens
on Barack Obama than his
predecessor.

‘‘It’s a little more fun for me
photographing someone you care

about or admire and like as
opposedto theopposite,’’ Leibovitz
told The Australianyesterday from
New York. ‘‘But . . . you’re there to
take pictures, and I learned a long
time ago that youdon’t have to like
the person. I like to like the person
I’m photographing but photogra-
phy’s a pretty powerful tool. You
can express your thoughts in how
you take a picture.’’

Since her career tookoff at Roll-
ing Stone magazine in the 1970s,
Leibovitz has photographed some
of the world’s most influential and
powerful figures, from John Len-

non and Nelson Mandela to the
Queen.

While she has embraced digital
technology, she is no fan of the
way modern politicians have
learned to polish their public im-
age. ‘‘I used to love to do politicians
because they were so awkward,
they didn’t know any better,’’ she
said.

‘‘They weren’t polished . . . it
wasn’t something that was import-
ant to know how to sit for a
photograph.’’

Leibovitz was speaking ahead
of a retrospective exhibition of her

work, A Photographer’s Life:
1990-2005, which opens at Syd-
ney’s Museum of Contemporary
Art on Friday.

The show, featuring images of
Hillary and Bill Clinton as well as
George W. Bush’s inner-circle in
2001, but not Obama, combines
photographs of well-known fig-
ures with important figures from
her own life.

Her late partner, Susan Sontag,
is a constant presence, in addition
to her parents and children.

But while she would continue
taking photographs of her family

in private, her children are un-
likely to be seen in future shows.
‘‘I’m very reluctant to do anything
like this again,’’ she said. ‘‘I would
never put my children in that pos-
ition. I’m proud of that work, I
think it’s a very special moment in
mywork,but itonlymademewant
to go back and do better assign-
ment work and protect my family
and leave them out of my feature
work.’’

Leibovitz, who describes herself
as a conceptual artist who uses
photography as her medium, said
there was nothing wrong with

using digital technology to
‘‘photo-illustrate’’ portraits and
other work, as long as the images
were not presented as photo-
journalism. ‘‘It really does help in
portraiture particularly because
I’ve always thought the portrait
doesn’t have to be literally what
you see in front of you, there’s
room for interpretation,’’ she said.
‘‘There’s a learning curve going on
with digital and we’re all learning
to work with it and make it work
for us.’’

ARTSP18-19

Zahra’s
remains
‘strewn
widely’
AUSTRALIAN girl Zahra Baker
was dismembered and her re-
mains scattered at different sites
in the US state of North
Carolina, according to court
papers filed by lawyers
representing her American step-
mother.

Thecourt documentsask fora
reduction in bail for Elisa Baker,
saying she helped investigators
by leading them to the remains
of 10-year-old Zahra.

Elisa Baker has been jailed
since last month, accused of
trying to throw off investigators
by writing a fake ransom note
demanding $US1 million for
another child.

The court papers were repor-
ted by Charlotte-area TV sta-
tions and posted on the website
of WCNC-TV yesterday.

Elisa Baker told police on
October 24 that Zahra ‘‘was
deceased, thather bodyhadbeen
dismembered and that it would
be recovered at different sites’’,
the documents say.

She was allowed to accom-
pany police the following two
days to sites around Hickory, in
western North Carolina, show-
ing them where Zahra’s remains
were.

Police said last week that they
found a bone that matched DNA
from Zahra, and believed other
remains were about 8km away.

They have not said, and the
court documents fail to explain,
how the girl died.

Zahra was reported missing
by her Australian father, Adam
Baker, on October 9, but police
believe she may have met with
foul play earlier than that.

Adam and Elisa Baker remain
suspects in Zahra’s disappear-
ance, although neither has been
charged.

Mr Baker was arrested on a
host of charges unrelated to the
girl’s disappearance, but is free
on bail.

Zahra, whose left leg was am-
putated five years ago after a
battle with bone cancer, moved
with them to the US two years
ago. Before moving to the US,
Zahra spent four years living
with her father at his parents’
home in Giru, near Townsville.

She went to the local primary
school while her father and
grandfather worked at the local
Invicta Sugar Mill.

As a single father, Mr Baker
started using an internet dating
service and corresponded online
for a year with Elisa in the US.
She visited him in Australia,
where the couple married in
2008.

AP

MOTION COULD FORCE GOVERNMENT’S HAND

Libs push legal visa claims
LANAI VASEK

SCOTT Morrison will push to en-
sure people waiting in legitimate
refugee camps overseas will not
miss out on having their visa
applications processed because of
an increase in boat arrivals.

The opposition immigration
spokesman has given notice that
he will move a motion in
parliament next week that could
force the government to give pref-
erence to refugees who apply for
asylum offshore.

‘‘The government has to make
a choice,’’ Mr Morrison said.

‘‘People who apply through the
legitimate process are being told
Australia has an obligation to pro-

cess refugees on Christmas Island
first and these people are some-
times waiting well over a year to
get a visa determination . . . it’s not
really fair when they are applying
through all the right processes.’’

The motion is expected to be
debated on Monday and go to a
vote in the House of Represen-
tatives on Thursday next week.

Mr Morrison said places in the
offshore Special Humanitarian
Program were being taken up by
onshore protection visa appli-
cants, so people offshore ident-
ified by the UNHCR as in need of
asylum were missing out.

Australia’s current refugee and
humanitarian program is set at
13,750 with only 6000 of those
visas going to refugees mandated

by the UNHCR and referred to
Australia for resettlement.

Mr Morrison said visas avail-
able in the refugee and humani-
tarian program should be allo-
cated along the lines of 10,000
places for offshore applicants
identified by the UNHCR and
3750 places for IMAs and their
families.

‘‘People in camps overseas
should not miss out because the
government is not able to effec-
tively control our borders,’’ Mr
Morrison said.

This year, 119 boats have
arrived in Australian waters
carrying a totalof 5693 passengers
and 296 crew.

There are 5597 people in Aus-
tralian immigration facilities

awaiting visa processing, 856 of
whom are children.

James Jupp, associate pro-
fessor at the Centre for Immi-
gration and Multicultural Studies
at the Australian National Uni-
versity, told The Australian yester-
day Mr Morrison’s proposed
changes would be ‘‘extremely
administratively difficult’’.

‘‘How would you even be able
to ensure that offshore appli-
cations get processed first? I just
don’t know,’’ Professor Jupp said.

Mr Morrison’s motion will be
seconded by opposition foreign
affairs spokeswoman Julie
Bishop.

To pass in the house, it will
need the support of cross-
benchers Tony Windsor, Rob

Oakeshott, Andrew Wilkie and
Bob Katter.

News of the motion comes a
day after Immigration Minister
Chris Bowen began discussions
with cabinet over potential legis-
lative responses to last week’s
High Court ruling on refugee
processing.

The landmark decision has
cleared the way for a new wave of
legal challenges by those claiming
their asylum applications have
not been dealt with fairly and
could also lead to offshore deten-
tion being abandoned without
legislative responses from the
government.

Immigration sources said yes-
terday Mr Bowen’s response was
still ‘‘some weeks away’’.

‘No way’ smuggling
accused wereminors
DEBBIE GUEST

THERE is no chance that two
accused Indonesian people-
smugglers were 13 and 14 at the
time of their alleged offences as
they claim, according to a
radiologist who believes the pair
are now 19.

Giving expert evidence yester-
day at an age determination hear-
ing in Perth Magistrates Court,
radiologist Vincent Low said
wrist X-rays indicated the ac-
cused had the bone development
of 19-year-olds.

The X-rays were taken up to
two months after the pair alleg-
edly helped smuggle asylum-
seekers from Indonesia to Aus-
tralian waters, and Dr Low said
this meant there was about a
25 per cent chance they were un-
der 18 at the time of the offence.

One claims to have been 13 in
December last year, while the
otherclaimshewas14whenheal-
legedly helped smuggle asylum-
seekers in November last year.

Dr Low said yesterday there
was a zero and 0.09 per cent
chance respectively that the ac-

cused pair were the ages they clai-
med to be.

Under questioning from a law-
yer for one of the accused, Seam-
us Rafferty, Dr Low agreed he
could not exclude the ‘‘reasonable
possibility’’ that one of the men
was under 18 in December last
year when he is alleged to have
helped smuggle 48 Afghan
asylum-seekers to Australia.

Despite their claims, the pair
have been detained in adult jails,
and if their bid to be recognised as
minors fails, they will be tried in
Perth’s District Court, where they
face a mandatory minimum five
years’ jail if found guilty.

But if magistrate Graeme
Calder rules the pair are minors, it
is possible the commonwealth
will not pursue charges in the
Children’s Court and they will be
returned to Indonesia.

Mr Rafferty questioned
whether determining age by a
wrist X-ray was fair because the
test was developed using a study
of mainly white middle-class chil-
dren in the 1930s. But Dr Low de-
fended the test and said it was still
relevant because genetics took
longer than 70 years to change.

Detained refugee found hanged
after claimwas twice rejected
PAUL MALEY

‘‘I hear someone yell
‘Help, help, help’
MOSANMANOUCHERIPOUR
IRAQI DETAINEE

AN Iraqi man who hanged himself
in Villawood detention centre had
reportedly volunteered to return
home after having his refugee
claim twice rejected.

Ahmad al-Akabi, understood
to be in his 40s, was discovered
hanging in his quarters at Sydney’s
Villawood detention centre at
12.20am on Tuesday, having
apparently locked himself in the
toilet area.

His death comes two months
after Fijian man Josefa Rauluni
jumped to his death inside Villa-
wood, and is part of a quickening
tempo of serious incidents inside
Australia’s detention centres.

On Sunday, up to 50 teenagers
were involved in a brawl in Mel-
bourne’s Immigration Transit
Accommodation.

Overcrowding, longer deten-
tion times and a higher refugee
rejection rate are being blamed for
the rising tensions.

An Immigration Department
spokesman yesterday confirmed a
detainee had been found not
breathing in his quarters early yes-

terday. Attempts to revive the man
failed and he was pronounced
dead at Liverpool Hospital, the
spokesman said.

Refugee advocates and
detainees inside Villawood named
the man as father of three Ahmad
Akabi, from the southern Iraqi city
of Karbala.

Ian Rintoul, from the Refugee
Action Collective, said Mr Akabi,

understood to have a wife and
three daughters aged between
three and five years old, had been
in detention for 111/2 months, more
than seven of which had been
spent in Villawood.

An Iranian detainee at Villa-
wood, Mosan Manoucheripour,
said he had been sitting in a
friend’s room late on Monday
night when he heard screaming.

‘‘I hear someone yell ‘Help,
help, help’,’’ Mr Manoucheripour
told The Australian.

‘‘I rushed round out of the room
and went to the other side of the
building. I found someone in the
toilet, hanging over the toilet.’’

An Iraqi detainee who asked
not to be named said he and some
other detainees had gone looking
for Mr Akabi about 11.30pm on
Monday.

‘‘He went to the bathroom and
he locked the door from inside the
bathroom,’’ the detainee said.

‘‘Someone looked at the bath-
room through the window and we
found out he hanged himself.’’

Both Mr Manoucheripour and
the second detainee said Mr Akabi
had volunteered for deportation
after his asylum claim was rejected
on review. But they said a delay in
obtaining a passport had left him
despondent.

Mr Manoucheripour said Mr
Alkabi had been taken to Liver-
pool hospital 12 days ago appar-
ently with a heart complaint. An
Immigration spokesman refused
to comment on the claim, saying
the matter was before the coroner,
but he rejected reports that more
than 160 detainees were conduct-
ingahunger strikeasa resultof the
incident.

Victims demand full inquiry on abuse by churches, charities
SUE DUNLEVY

AUSTRALIANS who were
abused as children in church,
charity and government-run in-
stitutions are demanding a royal
commission to bring the per-
petrators to justice.

Twelve months after they re-

ceiveda primeministerial apology
for the abuse they experienced,
the forgotten Australians and
child migrants marked the anni-
versary yesterday by calling for
justice.

Former Democrats senator
Andrew Murray, a child migrant
himself, said the abuse sustained
by many of the 500,000 forgotten

Australians amounted to ‘‘crimes
against humanity’’.

‘‘You had deaths for which
there was no coronial inquiries,
beatings, criminal physical as-
sault, criminal sexual assault,’’ Mr
Murray said.

‘‘Therewasabusebutmuchof it
was criminal assault that was il-
legal then, illegal now and the fact

is that certain crimes should
always be punished, particularly
the rape of children, both male
and female.’’

Care Leavers Australia Net-
work founder Leonie Sheedy
backed the call. ‘‘A crime is a crime
no matter whether it was commit-
ted 50 seconds ago, five minutes
ago or 50 years ago,’’ she said.

A $26.5 million website and
phone line to help the victims find
their families and their identities
would begin operating from April,
Families Minister Jenny Macklin
said yesterday.

It would be supported by a free
1800 telephone number on which
care leavers can get help to find
their records.

No waiting. No signing.

You need 
to be fast.

You don’t
want to wait

around.

Spend less time in a taxi with contactless technology that makes 
paying for your fare as easy as Tap to Pay and be on your way...

Cabcharge leaves other cards behind.

fastcard.com.au
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Worley faces stiff rivalry on PSN
EXCLUSIVE

BRETT CLEGG
TRACY LEE
ACQUISITIONS

WORLEYPARSONS remains on
the hunt for offshore acquisitions
but may have been trumped in its
pursuit of global contractor Pro-
duction Services Network (PSN).

The Australian understands
that Worley has been actively

looking at acquiring the privately
owned, Aberdeen-based PSN for
as much as $800 million but has
faced fierce competition from
another Scottish player, John
Wood Group.

When asked about PSN, Wor-
leyParsons declined to make any
specific comment.

‘‘The company frequently
assesses acquisition opportunit-
ies.

‘‘However, it is company policy
not to comment on market
rumoursorspeculation,’’ a spokes-

man said. PSN was formed in
2006 as a $US280m management
buyout led by chief executive Bob
Keiller from US giant KBR Hal-
liburton and now operates in 25
countries with an order book of
close to $US3.1 billion.

Since the buyout PSN has
acquiredGrassoProductionMan-
agement in the Gulf of Mexico
and Canadian oil sands player
Tartan Engineering.

According to its website, PSN
posted revenues last year of
$1.152bn and earnings before in-

terest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation of $US85.5m.

An acquisition by Worley
would have been the largest since
its $1.2bn purchase of Canada’s
Colt Companies in early 2007 and,
before that, its merger with E&C
Parsons in 2004.

Worley has a market capitalis-
ation of more than $6.2bn and, ac-
cording to Thomson Reuters, is
trading on an enterprise value to
EBITDA multiple of about 14.8
times.

Worley is one of a number of

locally listed global companies
that are considering how to take
advantage of the Australian dollar
tradingnearparitywith thegreen-
back to execute offshore
acquisitions.

The engineering services group
has pursued a strategy of leverag-
ing itself to the burgeoning ac-
tivity in the energy sector and ear-
lier this month Worley was
awarded a $580m contract for
British gas giant BG Group’s
$US15bn Queensland LNG pro-
ject.

Twoweeks agoPSNwon a five-
year contract worth more than
$US500m ($513.9m) with Shell in
Britain to provide integrated ser-
vices to eight of the oil giant’s
North Sea assets.

Worley, which enjoyed solid
profit rises since its listing in 2002,
hit a hurdle last financial year
when net profit declined by 26 per
cent to $291.1m.

At the annual meeting, chief
executive John Grill promised
shareholders an improvement
this financial year.

National standard
to simplify projects
ANNABEL HEPWORTH
CONSTRUCTION

A FEDERAL and state working
group meets today to consider
national recognition of building
contractors’ qualifications.

The plan is expected to boost
competition in the construction
industry.

The Council of Australian
Governments infrastructure
working group will meet today on
plans for a ‘‘national pre-
qualification system’’ on tenders
for road, bridge and non-
residential construction projects.

The system would harmonise
requirements for these projects
— a measure that Infrastructure
Minister Anthony Albanese
hopes would encourage com-
petition in Australia’s construc-
tion sector.

Currently, contractors have to
prove their financial and tech-
nical bona fides in each state they
want to work in because each
operates its own pre-qualification
system.

It is understood that the states
have conducted design work and
finalised industry consultations
on the plan, and have indicated
they are ready to adopt the nat-
ional scheme from January 1.

Today’s meeting is expected to
settle ongoing arrangements bet-
ween the states.

This reform will give effect to
an agreement struck in February

last year. The plan comes as the
federal government appears to be
setting its sights on the duopoly in
Australia’s construction market.

The sector is dominated by
Leighton Holdings and its sub-
sidiaries and Valemus (formerly
Bilfinger Berger Australia) and its
subsidiaries.

A sharemarket float of Valem-
us was withdrawn earlier this
year, but market watchers expect
the company’s listing to go ahead
next year.

Mr Albanese told a lunch of
the Italian Construction Con-
tractors Association in Rome ear-
lier this month that Infrastruc-
ture Australia was continuing to
update its long-term pipeline of
projects that could be of interest
to foreign investors.

‘‘Weneed toencourage foreign
investment,’’ Mr Albanese told
the lunch.

‘‘Australia has a very welcom-
ing attitude to foreign investment
and we have an open regulatory
regime in this regard.’’

Projects that have included
foreign expertise include the de-
sign of the $812 million Superway
in Adelaide, for which Italian-
based Rizzani de Eccher provided
advice.

It is understood that Rizzani de
Eccher is considering setting up
an office in Australia.

Brisbane’s Northern Link road
and tunnel project was won by a
consortium involving Spanish
firm Gellah.

Super fundmerger
sets a $28bn record

Largest funds

AUSTRALIANSUPER 32.7

QSUPER 29.3

COLONIAL FIRST STATE -FIRSTCHOICE 28.7

MLC MASTERKEY - BUS 28.6

FIRST STATE SUPER / HEALTH SUPER COMBINED 27.0

AMP FLEXIBLE SUPER 26.0

UNISUPER 25.6

ONE PATH 25.6

BT SUPERWRAP 20.2

REST INDUSTRY 17.6

Source: SuperRatings

Fund name Fund size $bn

* Note that figures are as at 30/6/2010. Where this data is not available, 
the most recent available data has been used.

‘We believe we’ve
found a strategic
and cultural fit’
MICHAEL DWYER
FIRST STATE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

SUPERANNUATION:First State
Super and Health Super have
announced plans to join forces, in
the largest merger of
superannuation funds in
Australia.

The two not-for-profit
industry funds will create a
$28 billion pool of
superannuation assets, the
largest deal by dollar value
according to research firm
SuperRatings.

The merger of the $20bn
NSW-based First State Super
and its smaller Victorian-based
cousin will create the fifth-largest
fund by asset size and, at about
750,000 members, the seventh
biggest by membership.

In dollar terms, the deal
trumps the birth of Australia’s
largest fund, the $33bn
AustralianSuper, created in 2006
through the merger of three
super funds.

The merger is part of a drive
for consolidation as
superannuation funds seek to
compete on cost,offset rising
administration costs, and reduce
pressures from federal
government reforms.

First State already claims to be
the cheapest super fund.

Reforms architect Jeremy
Cooper, chair of the Cooper
review into the superannuation
sector, has called for there to be
fewer, larger super funds.

Funds also seek to gain an
edge through mergers by
increasing their power to buy
large unlisted assets such as
commercial property and

infrastructure. SuperRatings
chief Jeff Bresnahan said the
merger was a sign of things to
come.

‘‘Mergers have been much
promised, but very little delivered
in the last five years,’’ he said.
‘‘There have been a lot of planned
mergers that have been
abandoned.’’

A major problem was aligning
the interests of a diverse
membership base on a combined
board. First State covers
members across the NSW public
service including health workers,

police and teachers, while Health
Super members are drawn from
the health and community
services sectors. First State chief
executive Michael Dwyer, who
will head the new entity, said his
fund had held merger discussions
with a number of funds but had
not found the right partner. ‘‘We
believe we’ve found a strategic
and cultural fit,’’ he said.

Mr Bresnahan said the
merger, if successful, would
strengthen the funds’ hand
against their competitor, the
health industry super fund
HESTA. The funds aim to
complete the merger by June.

GEOFFREYNEWMAN

Bank competition hot, says Norris
RICHARD GLUYAS
BANKING

DAVID GERAGHTY

Ralph Norris defended the big banks at an Australian British Chamber of Commerce lunch

COMPETITION between the
big four banks is more intense
than ever, as second-tier banks
and credit unions and building
societiesalso take on the majors,
Commonwealth Bank chief
executive Ralph Norris has said.

As Labor and the Coalition
sought to outbid each other on
proposals to boost competition
after this month’s controversial
roundof super-sizemortgagerate
increases, Mr Norris sought to
seize back the initiative.

He told an Australian British
Chamber of Commerce lunch in
Melbourne was ‘‘significant’’
competition, and it was wrong to
say the industry was earning
‘‘super-profits’’.

Stripping out non-banking op-
erations of the major lenders, he
said, the return on total assets was
about 0.75 per cent.

Return on equity, further-
more, was ‘‘not much more than
half’’ the level reported by the
mining and retail industries, and
was around the mid-point of the
top 100 companies nationally.

‘‘I don’t think you have seen as
much competition between the
majors in the last year or two as
you have seen in the history of the
majors,’’ Mr Norris said.

‘‘A lot of the accusations and
criticisms’’ on competition ‘‘are
pretty much fact-free’’.

The Commonwealth chief,
who took out full-page news-
paper advertisements to correct
what he saw as misreported com-
ments about foreclosures, said
the last thing he wanted was to
sell anyone up.

Less than half of the thousands
of people Commonwealth had
helped with suspended repay-
ments over the past 18-24 months
were still financially stressed.

Asked how many foreclosures
there had been this year, Mr Nor-
ris said: ‘‘We have 1.3-1.4 million
home loan borrowers. I have to
say we’re talking about
0.0000001 per cent.’’

The Commonwealth chief also
warned about the debilitating
economic impact of poor policy
outcomes from prolonged min-
ority government.

Minority governments in
some European countries over
the past 20-40 years had resulted
in the ‘‘tail wagging the dog’’, with
political power bought through
introduction of pensions for
people retiring in their early 50s.

‘‘I look at countries like
Australia that have shown great
fiscal discipline and not got

themselves caught out,’’ Mr Nor-
ris said. ‘‘Certainly you have to be
aware that social welfare systems
don’t go from being safety nets to
habits.

‘‘In parts of Europe it has be-
come a habit.’’

Excessive regulation, which
sometimes had unintended
consequences, was also targeted

by thebanker, echoingcomments
by RAMS founder John King-
horn. Mr Norris said consumer
protection legislation had cost
the Commonwealth $40 million,
and created a barrier to entry that
helped convince Mr Kinghorn to
stay out of the mortgage market.

Moves to regulate signalling
by banks on interest-rate in-

creases were misconceived as
well, Mr Norris said. ‘‘One of the
difficulties we have is that a per-
son in my role is asked about the
outlook,’’ he said.

‘‘Obviously, interest rates are
part of that outlook, and it would
be difficult to decide what would
be price signalling versus matters
of interest.’’

Advertising pick-up givesWAN $23.5m profit
CYNTHIA KOONS
DOW JONES NEWSWIRES

WEST Australian Newspapers’
first-quarternetprofit rose2.6per
cent to $23.5 million as advertis-
ing revenue increased.

Management characterised
theperiodas ‘‘unusual’’ givencon-
fusion around the mining tax, the
indecisive federal election and
change of prime minister — all of

which had contributed to fluctu-
ations in advertising.

Net revenue rose 3.1 per cent to
$102.4m. Net consolidated circu-
lation revenue was down 2.1 per
cent to $19m in the quarter.

The media company posted a
net profit of $23.5m for the three
months to September 30, up from
$22.9m in the previous corre-
sponding period.

Consolidated advertising rev-
enue was up 7.3 per cent on the

previous corresponding period to
$76.8 million.

WAN’s largest business, The
West Australian newspaper, re-
ported an increase in advertising
volumes and margin.

This was despite the negative
effect on advertising from the un-
certainty created by the proposed
resources super-profits tax,
change of prime minister and the
indecisive result of the federal
election, WAN chief executive

Chris Warton said. ‘‘From early
May to the formation of govern-
ment in mid-September, our con-
sumers and advertisers appeared
to adopt a ‘holding pattern’
stance,’’ he said.

‘‘Over the last year, we have ta-
ken costs out on a sustainable
basis, invested in our editorial tal-
ent and in systems to improve
both our customer service and
our productivity.’’
ADDITIONALREPORTING: AAP

BuoyantMacarthur
waterproofs price
MATT CHAMBERS
MINING

MACARTHUR Coal saved itself
from yesterday’s rout of mining
shares by confirming that first-
half profit and sales were yet to be
hit by heavy rains that have affec-
ted other Queensland miners.

Chief financial officer Graham
Yerbury said the Brisbane-based
miner still expected to triple first-
half net profit to between
$115 million and $125m, based on
the production and sale of be-
tween 2.5 million and 2.7 million
tonnes of coal.

‘‘Despite seasonal wet weath-
er, Macarthur currently remains
on track to reach (its full-year)
sales target of 5 million tonnes,
with a target of 93 per cent low
volatile PCI coal sales,’’ Mr
Yerbury said in a company pres-
entation.

Macarthur produces pulver-
ised (PCI) coal that steel mills in-
ject into their blast furnaces.

Heavy rains before the
Queensland wet season have al-
ready forced Xstrata and Anglo
American to declare force ma-
jeure on coking coal production.

BHP Billiton, the state’s big-
gest coal producer, has also flag-
ged lower second-quarter pro-
duction because of the rain.

The unseasonable rain, and
expectations of a wet summer,
have led some analysts to predict

a rerun of 2007-08, when
Queensland’s coking coal pro-
duction was slashed, leading to a
tripling in annually set coking
coal prices to $US300 a tonne.

Mr Yerbury said sales and
costs could still be affected by wet
weather or reduced throughput
at the Dalrymple Bay Coal Ter-
minal near Mackay. Macarthur
shares rose 1c to $11.41.

Macarthur probably would
have made significant gains if the
rest of the mining sector had not
slid on concerns over Chinese ef-
forts to damp inflation and the
size of an expected bailout of
Ireland.

The broader market ended
down 1.6 per cent, while miners
generally dropped between 2 and
4 per cent.

Mr Yerbury said Chinese steel
production remained higher than
pre-global financial levels, but
had slowed in the September
quarter.

This was because of seasonal
weakness, government closure of
inefficient mills and a drive to re-
duce power consumption.

‘‘However strong growth is
forecast from China, India and
Brazil,’’ he said.

Yesterday Credit Suisse up-
graded its recommendation on
Macarthur from underperform to
neutral. The reason for the up-
grade was a 10 per cent drop in
Macarthur’s share price in the
past quarter.
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Larger Blocks. Bigger Value.

• Relaxed living 
• Mountain views  
• City conveniences 
• Easy walk to town 
• Train station close by

Land from just $188,500  
House & land from $359,000  
Build your dream home!

First 
release 
big  
blocks 
now  
selling 

Contact Scott Heaney  
0408 711 027
Lower Mount Mellum Road  
Landsborough  
pathwayslandsborough.com.au
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land selling 
next right.

www.pathwayslandsborough.com.au

Project Marketing

Landsborough - Projects 
Pathways 

Pathways is a 15.66 Ha of land, 88  
residential land lots, with Stage One a  
two-year project (23 lots), located on  
Lower Mount Mellum Road, Landsborough, 
on the Sunshine Coast.

Adcorp was asked to pitch for this project, 
the work encompassing the marketing 
strategy, design and media strategy for this 
long term project consisting of five stages.

Release One consists of 23 lots of land 
being shaped and ready for a soft launch 
in October. Marketing development 
commenced at the end of June, with the 
completion of the website in late June and 
subsequent roll out of marketing to follow. 
Our main marketing objective is to generate 
enquiry to sell Stage One’s 23 lots.

Pathways aim is to emphasis the 
attractiveness of its natural, semi rural  
setting, northerly aspect and hinterland 
location to differentiate this development  
from competing developments in nearby 
areas. The final project will have a natural feel 
with frontage to established bushland. Stage 
One pricing for land is from $188,500, with a 
Stage Two, Three, Four and Five to  
be marketed in the future.

The lots allow buyers to build a home of their 
desire, with no restrictions of housing types 
in this open space development. The lots are 
also positioned to provide residents with the 
utmost privacy, with an outlook to bushland 
for each lot.  

Pathways provides a unique opportunity for 
people/couples/families to relocate or set up 
in this beautiful location of Landsborough 
with is only approximately 82km north of 
Brisbane and 18km west of Caloundra.

Once appointed, Adcorp developed a 
marketing strategy in order to build a strong 
differentiated brand while strengthening 
the strengths and benefits of this site. The 
aim to achieve registrations of interest in 
order to sell 23 lots in 1-2 years. Adcorp has 
developed the complete design, website, 
search strategy, marketing collateral, press 
placement (local press) and outdoor signage 
(onsite and offsite).
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final concept side

Outdoor Advertising

SKG  - Brand Recognition

SKG Radiology wanted to spice up their 
marketing and move away from the clutter 
in medical services advertising – positioning 
them in the market place as a high quality, 
high level service provider.

To achieve the cut through SKG was after, 
Adcorp proposed creative concepts which 
used humour to convey the messages 
and developed a cohesive and synergetic 
campaign – We See It.

The campaign plays on the idea that SKG 
Radiology has the high quality radiologists, 
equipment and experience – even the oddest 
situations patients could get themselves into 
– SKG has seen it.

The We See It campaign has run throughout 
an integrated media schedule including 
billboards, buses, press advertising and 
specialist magazines. 

Results

The positive feedback SKG has received 
from the branding exercise both internally and 
externally has encouraged them to continue 

and expand the campaign in the new financial 
year with two new characters being developed 
and the ‘We See It’ message being brought 
into all marketing materials including sales rep 
cars and the website redesign.
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Advertising

Cummins 

The challenge was to help Cummins  
attract and hire Diesel Mechanics and 
technicians. Our key insight from their  
current workforce was that they felt the 
engine was the brain of the machine. Using 
this idea, we positioned the role of Cummins 
mechanic as highly skilled and well regarded. 
The campaign includes numerous versions 
to accurately depict the diversity of the 
Cummins workforce. 

Advertising

Jupiter’s Casino

Jupiter’s approached Adcorp to develop 
a refreshed look for their employment 
marketing templates. The brief was to use 
their employment values the five f’s; Fresh, 
Fast, Focus, Fun, and Friendly as the basis  
for the message. Adcorp developed a 
creative look and feel that equips their 
in house recruitment team with the tools 
they need in the competitive Gold Coast 
entertainment market.  

At Cummins our products are so advanced that our dedicated team of specialists consider them to be the brains powering 
the machines that fuel our economy. As the world’s largest designer and manufacturer of premium engines, we’re totally 
committed to innovation and progress. 

Our products are years ahead of the competition. Our commitment to worldwide clean air standards is unparalleled in the 
industry. Excellence in customer service, people safety and workforce diversity drive the decisions we make. Our staff are 
the best in the business. Our training programs are second to none and provide talented individuals with advancement 
and placement opportunities within our network.

Exciting career opportunities exist across all fields within Cummins South Pacific, from diesel technicians through to 
service, engineering, sales, finance, HR and more. If you want to work with the best and operate in a global theatre then 
visit careers.cummins.com or contact the Cummins Recruitment Team on 1300 766 442.

Cummins South Pacific is an awarded Equal Opportunity Employer.
Voted number one as ‘The Most Ethical Company’ of all Wall Street listed companies.

Working Right. | careers.cummins.com

We hire the best.  
It’s how we operate.

A fresh and exciting start

Jupiter’s Hotel and Casino rely 
on our people to deliver the ‘F’ 

in Fresh. In fact, fresh is only 
one of our Five F’s – the 

core values we look for in 
our candidates.

If you possess a Fresh, 
Fun, Friendly, Focussed 

and Fast approach to your 
life, then come and deliver 

it with us. 

Join the show.



30

Design

Colliers - 50 Marcus-Clarke

Colliers International engaged Adcorp  
Melbourne to produce a large format Information 
Memorandum for the sale of 50 Markus Clarke 
Street, Canberra. The landmark building is state 
of the art and the only major 6 Star Green Star 
building in Canberra’s CBD, with large floor  
plates, great tenancy (government), and 
sustainable attributes such as a bio filtration 
system with a living wall to filter air. With  
extremely short turn around times Adcorp 
produced a premium brochure with bold 
typography, stunning photography, quality  
paper stock and finished with a spot gloss  
print technique on the cover.

Design

Stockland and QIC - 52 Martin Place

52 Martin Place is an A-Grade landmark building, 
co-owned by QIC & Stockland. The building is 
about to undergo a significant refurbishment to 
evolve the building. In conjunction with Mark Lacey, 
CBD leasing and the co-agent, a marketing plan 
was developed to lease the 40,000sqm of quality 
office space available over the next couple of years.

Adcorp designed the new logo which was an 
evolution of the existing Colonial Centre logo and 
developed the tagline “Evolution is taking place”  
to reposition the building in the market.

 

A high quality, sophisticated brochure was  
designed accompanied with floor plan inserts, 
a wallet for sending the brochure out and a 
supporting technical specifications document.

External leasing signage was also installed and 
the branding of a purpose-built display suite at the 
Elizabeth Street entry. The leasing campaign is in 
progress with future activity planned to keep the 
market interested and informed.
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green building council australia

Office Design v2 2011

This project has been awarded a  
6 Star Green Star – Office Design v2  
certified rating from the Green Building 
Council of Australia which represents 
“Australian Excellence” in environmentally 
sustainable design.

50 Marcus Clarke Street6 50 Marcus Clarke Street 7

EXECUTIVE  
SUMMARY
EXECUTIVE  
SUMMARY

n  THE PROPERTY 
50 Marcus Clarke Street, Canberra CBD 

n THE OFFERING
The property is a state of the art, Premium Grade 12 storey 
commercial office building recently completed in 2010.   
This energy efficient building houses 40,201m² of office 
space and is designed to perform at a 5-star NABERS 
Energy rating and has achieved a 6 Star Green Star rating.

n LOCATION
50 Marcus Clarke Street is located in Australia’s capital city, 
Canberra the political capital of Australia.  The property is in 
the booming western precinct of the Canberra CBD and has 
frontage to Marcus Clarke, Rudd and Alinga Streets.

n  SITE AREA 
   4,801m² (approx)

n  NET LETTABLE AREA    
   40,201m² (approx)

n ESTIMATED NET INCOME
$16,716,386 per annum excludes GST (approx)

n TENANCY PROFILE 
The property is the new headquarters for the Federal 
Government Department of Education, Employment and 
Workplace Relations (DEEWR) in Canberra.

n LEASE TERM
15 years, commenced 23rd May 2010.

n  ENERGY RATING
    The property is designed to perform at a 5-star NABERS 

Energy rating and has achieved a 6 Star Green Star rating. 

n PARKING AND STORAGE
The property provides 424 basement car spaces,  
22 motorcycle spaces, 185 bicycle spaces and 735m²  
of storage.  

Jim Shonk
Director | Institutional
Investment Services
P +61 2 6225 7333 
M +61 411 888 645

Paul Powderly
State Chief Executive, ACT
Valuation & Advisory Services
P +61 2 6225 7313
M +61 413 122 877

n EXCLUSIVE  
   SELLING AGENTS

Colliers International Ground Floor,  
21-23 Marcus Clarke Street 
Canberra, ACT 2600, Australia

John Marasco
Managing Director
Investment Services 
P +61 3 9612 8830
M +61 412 211 033

A  
PREMIUM  
INVESTMENT  
FROM EVERY  
ANGLE

A  
PREMIUM  
INVESTMENT  
FROM EVERY  
ANGLE

n METHOD OF SALE
50 Marcus Clarke Street, Canberra is offered For Sale by  
Expressions of Interest closing 26th August 2011 at 4pm  
at the offices of Colliers International.
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Design

Parmalat - Pauls Recipe Books

The fresh dairy team at Parmalat needed 
a refresh to their current recipe books with 
an aim to build on their brand and increase 
appeal to their target market, as well as 
communicate the wonderful dishes people 
can make with the use of Pauls products.

After discussions with the marketing team at 
Parmalat, Adcorp developed some fantastic 
concepts and coordinated with a food stylist 
in order to create some delicious recipes 
incorporating the Parmalat product offerings.   

All in all the four solid days of cooking and 
shooting was a success to create the new 
look Pauls recipe books.  
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FINANCIAL  
RESULTS
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Directors’ Report
30 June 2011

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity 
(referred to hereafter as the ‘consolidated entity’) consisting of Adcorp Australia Limited (referred to 
hereafter as the ‘company’ or ‘parent entity’) and the entities it controlled for the year ended 30 June 2011.

Directors

The following persons were directors of Adcorp Australia Limited during the whole of the financial year and 
up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Bob Campbell

Ian Rodwell

David Morrison (appointed on 21 March 2011)

Matthew Mellor (resigned on 18 March 2011)

Principal activities

During the financial year the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity consisted of:

• �Advertising agency services specialising in human resources, real estate, government, motor vehicle, 
education and retail;

• �Website design, development and database support services; and

• �Digital marketing services and consulting, including supply of web-based products, and strategic 
employment solutions.

Dividends

Dividends paid during the financial year were as follows:

2011 
$’000

2010 
$’000

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 1 cent per ordinary share 
paid on 31 March 2011 fully franked based on a tax rate of 30% 607  -  

The dividend payment of $261,000 in the comparative year relates to the non-controlling interest.
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Directors’ Report
30 June 2011

Review of operations

The profit for the consolidated entity after tax 
and non-controlling interests has grown to 
$1.392m from the prior year’s loss of $(7.138m).

Trading conditions remained challenging in 
the industry as a whole, compounded by the 
series of natural disasters both in Australia 
and New Zealand and indeed further afield in 
regions serviced by some of our clients. We 
successfully deployed our risk management 
action plans in response to the Queensland 
floods and the Christchurch earthquake to 
mitigate the potential losses to the business 
from these events.

Operating profit before tax, foreign currency 
translation, non-controlling interest and 
impairment, has more than doubled from 
$0.943m in the prior year, to $2.205m in this 
financial year. Profit in the six months to June 
2011 of $1.107m was similar to H1’s $1.098m 
(stated before foreign currency translation 
expense/income).

Despite a reduction in billings of $11.622m to 
$170.952m and a 5.5% ($1.7m) reduction in 
operating revenues, the company has reduced 
expenses for the 3rd consecutive year to deliver 
solid growth in the bottom line.

The reduction in billings is primarily a result of 
the loss of clients from our subsidiary Andrews 
Advertising Pty Ltd, however this has been 
partially offset by new business including the 
Northern Territory Government and an increase 
in higher margin consultative services projects, 
equating to a resultant revenue margin for the 
group of 17.1% which is similar to prior year.

Overall expenditure reduced by $2.9m, of which 
$1.2m is attributable to the cessation of trading 
at Andrews Advertising Pty Ltd. The prior year 
included one-off restructuring and termination 
costs of $0.5m and we have seen the benefit of 
ongoing cost saving initiatives flow through to 
this financial year.

The current year to June 2011 includes costs 
and expenses arising from the departure of 
staff from Andrews Advertising Pty Ltd and in 
relation to the ongoing case against the former 
director and former senior executive of Andrews 
Advertising Pty Ltd.

Client service expenditure reduced by $2.2m 
to $18.9m as a result of reduced costs in 
Andrews Advertising Pty Ltd, and a reduction 
in management labour after restructuring 
in May 2010.

Administration expenditure also reduced by 
$0.2m with lower bank charges and insurance 
costs during the financial year.

Marketing expenses increased by $0.2m to 
$1.7m and include one-off project and travel 
costs for the implementation of a new property 
advertising system, and increased marketing 
expense as we commenced the process of 
refreshing the Adcorp Brand. That process was 
completed in August 2011 and most affiliated 
costs have been expensed in the year to June 
2011. This category also includes an increase in 
the provision for client doubtful debts which we 
consider prudent as at the 30 June 2011.

Occupancy and Communications expense 
reduced by $0.5m on the back of reduced 
asset depreciation charges as a result of the 
impairment of these assets at 30 June 2010. In 
addition we have reduced telecommunications 
charges though improved pricing with our 
service providers.
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We have continued to improve the management 
of our receivables and are currently enhancing 
the processes and effectiveness of both billings 
and receivables functions.

At the end of the financial year we held 
$10.273m in cash (30 June 2010: $10.875m) 
and while we still have access to a $6m working 
capital facility with the ANZ bank, we had no 
drawings outstanding on this facility at 30 June 
2011 (30 June 2010: Nil drawings).

We have also restructured our client-facing 
functions to deliver a more local and specific 
‘targeted’ service to our clients across Australia 
and New Zealand. As a result we have placed 
agency managers in our offices in New South 
Wales, Queensland and Victoria, effective 
July 2011, to focus on local client needs and 
solutions specific to their markets.

Adcorp starts the new financial year in a 
good position to seize opportunities to grow 
although the markets remain challenging and 
uncertain. We have a committed and engaged 
management team and skilled, passionate 
people to provide the best possible service and 
advertising solutions for our clients.

The directors are confident in the capabilities 
and continued success of the business and 
have declared a final dividend of 1cent per 
share fully franked, out of the current year profits 
(Interim dividend declared in February 2011:  
1 cent per share fully franked, out of the current 
year profits).

Significant changes in the 
state of affairs

There were no significant changes in the state 
of affairs of the consolidated entity during the 
financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of 
the financial year

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 
30 June 2011 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the consolidated entity’s 
operations, the results of those operations, or 
the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future 
financial years.

Likely developments and expected 
results of operations

Information on likely developments in the 
operations of the consolidated entity and 
the expected results of operations have 
not been included in this report because 
the directors believe it would be likely 
to result in unreasonable prejudice to 
the consolidated entity.

Environmental regulation

The consolidated entity is not subject to any 
significant environmental regulation under 
Australian Commonwealth or State law.
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Information on directors

Name:	 �Bob Campbell

Title:	� Non-Executive Chairman

Qualifications:	� BEc

Experience and expertise:	�� Bob Campbell has spent his career working in the media. 
He held senior management positions with Network 
TEN prior to being appointed Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of The Seven Network from 
1987 to 1995. He is a former Chairman of The Film 
Finance Corporation, the Sydney Dance Company and 
a director of The Australian Film Radio and Television 
School and the Australian Film Commission. He is 
currently a director of the Sydney Swans. In 1996 he 
formed, with Des Monaghan, the television production 
company, Screentime, which has operations in Australia, 
New Zealand and Ireland. Bob was appointed as Non-
Executive Chairman in May 2005.

Other current directorships:	� None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years):	� None

Special responsibilities:	� Member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee

Interests in shares:	� None

Interests in options:	� None

Name:	 �Ian Rodwell

Title:	� Non-Executive Director

Qualifications:	� BComm

Experience and expertise:	�� Ian Rodwell is the founder of the Adcorp Group and 
held the position of Managing Director from Adcorp’s 
inception until his retirement in January 2004. He is 
also a Director of the Diabetes Australia Research Trust 
(‘DART’), an organisation responsible for the raising of 
funds for diabetes research and awarding of grants to 
medical researchers in Australia; Chairman of Optalert 
Pty Ltd, a company developing an innovative technology 
product to measure both alertness and drowsiness, 
as an aid to the global transport and mining industries; 
Director of MND Australia, an organisation responsible 
for raising and funding medical research to find the cause 
and cure for motor neurone disease.

Other current directorships:	� None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years):	� None

Special responsibilities:	� Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee.

Interests in shares:	� 21,716,127 ordinary shares at 30 June 2011

Interests in options:	� None
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Name:	 �David Morrison (appointed on 21 March 2011)

Title:	� Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Qualifications:	 B.Bus (Hons)

Experience and expertise:	� David Morrison has a wealth of advertising industry 
experience, most recently as the Head of Business for 
Adcorp’s WA, SA and NT markets. In just over 7 years, 
David managed to near triple Adcorp’s WA operation 
(by billings) and has been instrumental in Adcorp’s 
appointment to a number of key accounts. He was 
appointed by the Board to the role of Chief Executive 
Officer in March 2011.

Other current directorships:	� None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years):	� None

Special responsibilities:	� None

Interests in shares:	� None

Interests in options:	� 150,000 options over ordinary shares

Name:	 �Matthew Mellor (resigned on 18 March 2011)

Title:	� Former Executive Director and Former Chief Executive 
Officer

Qualifications:	� BA

Experience and expertise:	� Matthew Mellor joined Adcorp as General Manager, 
Victoria in 2006 and became General Manager Victoria/
Group Head of Solutions in 2009. He was appointed 
Chief Operating Officer by the Board in January 2010 and 
Chief Executive Officer in July 2010. Matthew resigned as 
Chief Executive Officer and director on 18 March 2011.

Other current directorships:	� None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years):	� None

Special responsibilities:	� None

Interests in shares:	� None

Interests in options:	� None

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes 
directorships in all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (in the last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed 
entities only and excludes directorships in all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

Company secretary

Craig McMenamin commenced in April 2007 as 
Chief Financial Officer (‘CFO’) and Company 
Secretary and is an experienced CFO with 
over 17 years of financial leadership in the 
Media, Retail, Entertainment and Manufacturing 
sectors, both locally and abroad. Craig’s track 
record includes leading the financial strategy 

of high-growth, transformational businesses, 
playing a key role in strategic development 
and growth, while driving improvements of 
underlying operational systems, processes and 
investments. Craig is a Chartered Accountant 
and member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.
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Meetings of directors

The number of meetings of the company’s Board of Directors and of each board committee held during 
the year ended 30 June 2011, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

Full Board Audit Committee Other

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

Bob Campbell 12 12 3 3 2 2 

Ian Rodwell 12 12 3 3 2 2 

David Morrison 3 3  -   -  1 1 

Matthew Mellor * 9 9 3 3 1 1 

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant committee.

* Matthew Mellor attended the Audit Committee meetings by invitation

The Remuneration Committee meetings are incorporated into Board meetings.

Remuneration report (audited)

The remuneration report, which has been 
audited, outlines the director and executive 
remuneration arrangements for the consolidated 
entity and the company, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
its Regulations.

The remuneration report is set out under the 
following main headings:

A	� Principles used to determine the nature and 
amount of remuneration

B	� Details of remuneration

C	� Service agreements

D	� Share-based compensation

A	P rinciples used to determine the 
nature and amount of remuneration

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
of the Board of Directors of Adcorp Australia 
Limited is responsible for determining and 
reviewing compensation arrangements for 
the directors, the Chief Executive Officer 
and the executive team. The Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee assesses the 
appropriateness of the nature and amount 
of emoluments of such officers on a periodic 
basis by reference to relevant employment 
market conditions with the overall objective 
of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit 
from the retention of a high quality Board and 
executive team. Such officers are given the 
opportunity to receive their base emolument 
in a variety of forms including cash and fringe 
benefits such as motor vehicles and expense 
payment plans. It is intended that the manner of 

payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient 
without creating undue cost for the company 
and consolidated entity.

The performance of the company and 
consolidated entity is dependent upon 
the attraction, motivation and retention of 
highly skilled and experienced directors 
and executives.

To achieve this, the company and consolidated 
entity embodies the following principles into its 
remuneration framework:

• �Provide competitive remuneration packages 
to attract highly skilled and experienced 
executives

• �Significant proportion of executive 
remuneration ‘at risk’, dependent upon 
meeting predetermined performance 
benchmarks

• �Performance benchmarks are aligned to the 
creation of shareholder value

• �Participation in Adcorp Employee Option Plan 
to create long term incentives

Alignment to program participants’ interests:

• �rewards capability and experience

• �reflects competitive reward for contribution to 
growth in shareholder wealth

• �provides a clear structure for earning rewards

In accordance with best practice corporate 
governance, the structure of non-executive 
directors and executive remunerations 
are separate.
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Non-executive directors remuneration

The constitution and the ASX Listing Rules 
specify that the aggregate remuneration of 
non-executive directors shall be determined 
from time to time by a general meeting. An 
amount not exceeding the amount determined 
is then allocated to the directors as agreed. 
The latest determination was at the Annual 
General Meeting held in October 2004 when 
the shareholders approved a maximum 
aggregate amount of $250,000 per year. 
Non-executive directors are not entitled to 
performance-based bonuses.

The remuneration of non-executive directors 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 is 
detailed later in this report.

Executive remuneration

The company and consolidated entity aims to 
remunerate and reward executives with a level 
and mix of remuneration that is commensurate 
with their position, responsibilities and 
performance within the company and 
consolidated entity and so as to:

• �Reward executives for achievement of 
company and consolidated entity, business 
unit and individual objectives against 
appropriate benchmarks

• �Align interest of executives with those of 
shareholders

• �Ensure total remuneration is competitive by 
market standards

Remuneration consists of the following 
key elements:

• �Fixed remuneration

• �Variable short term incentive remuneration

• �Variable long term incentive remuneration

The combination of these comprises the 
executive’s total remuneration.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, 
superannuation and non-monetary benefits, 
are reviewed annually by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, based on individual 
and business unit performance, the overall 
performance of the company and consolidated 
entity and comparable market remunerations.

Executives can receive their fixed remuneration 
in the form of cash or other fringe benefits 
(for example motor vehicle benefits) where it 
does not create any additional costs to the 
consolidated entity or company and adds 
additional value to the executive.

The variable short-term incentives (‘STI’) are set 
covering financial measures of performance. 
Measures are set to cover business unit and 
overall company and consolidated entity 
performances. The total potential STI available is 
set at a level so as to provide a sufficient incentive 
for the executive to achieve the operational targets 
of the company and consolidated entity and so 
that the cost to the company and consolidated 
entity is reasonable in the circumstances. Actual 
STI payments are made subject to the extent 
that specific targets set at the beginning of the 
financial year are met. Payments made are usually 
delivered as a cash bonus.

The variable long-term incentives (‘LTI’) are 
designed to reward executives in a manner 
which aligns this element of the remuneration 
with the creation of shareholder value. LTI 
grants to executives are delivered in the form of 
options. LTI grants are only made to executives 
who are able to influence the generation of 
shareholder wealth and thus have a direct 
impact on the company and consolidated 
entity’s performance.

Consolidated entity performance and 
link to remuneration

Executive fixed remuneration is not directly 
linked to the performance of the company 
and consolidated entity. Bonus and incentive 
payments are at the discretion of the Board.

B	 Details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the directors, 
other key management personnel (defined as 
those who have the authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the 
major activities of the consolidated entity) and 
specified executives of Adcorp Australia Limited 
are set out in the following tables.

The key management personnel of  
the consolidated entity consisted of the  
directors of Adcorp Australia Limited and the 
following executives:

• �Craig McMenamin - Chief Financial Officer 
and Company Secretary
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2011 Short-term benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits
Long-term 

benefits

Share-
based 

payments

Name

Cash 
salary and 

fees Bonus
Termination 

payments
Super-

annuation

Long 
service 

leave
Equity-
settled Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive 
Directors:

B Campbell 72,000  -   -  6,480  -   -  78,480 

I Rodwell 40,000  -   -  3,600  -   -  43,600 

 
Executive 
Directors:

M Mellor * 232,357 27,523 121,095 13,088  -   -  394,063 

D Morrison ** 86,739  -   -  3,800  -   -  90,539 

 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

C McMenamin 207,284  -   -  15,199  -   -  222,483 

638,380 27,523 121,095 42,167  -   -  829,165 

* Remuneration paid was for the period to the date no longer a director or key management personnel.

** David Morrison was appointed as director and Chief Executive Officer on 21 March 2011. Remuneration was for the period from the 
date of appointment.

2010 Short-term benefits

Post 
employment 

benefits
Long-term 

benefits

Share-
based 

payments

Name

Cash 
salary and 

fees Bonus
Termination 

payments
Super-

annuation

Long 
service 

leave
Equity-
settled Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive 
Directors:

B Campbell 72,000  -   -  6,480  -   -  78,480 

I Rodwell 40,000  -   -  3,600  -   -  43,600 

 
Executive 
Directors:

M Mellor ** 136,308  -   -  12,795  -   -  149,103 

P James * 166,078  -  237,852 8,520  -   -  412,450 

 
Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

C McMenamin 192,163  -   -  20,280  -   -  212,443 

K Twist * 162,790  -  204,910 29,693  -   -  397,393 

A Burke * 159,240  -  35,801 14,007  -   -  209,048 

928,579  -  478,563 95,375  -   -   1,502,517 

* Remuneration paid was for the period to the date no longer a director or key management personnel.

** Matthew Mellor was appointed as director and Chief Operating Officer on 4 January 2010 and appointed Chief Executive Officer on 
1 July 2010. Remuneration was for the period from the date of appointment as Director.
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The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI

Name 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

 
Non-Executive Directors:

B Campbell 100% 100% - % - % - % - %

I Rodwell 100% 100% - % - % - % - %

 
Executive Directors:

M Mellor 100% 100% - % - % - % - %

D Morrison 100% - % - % - % - % - %

P James - % 100% - % - % - % - %

 
Other Key Management 
Personnel:

C McMenamin 100% 100% - % - % - % - %

K Twist - % 100% - % - % - % - %

A Burke - % 100% - % - % - % - %

C	S ervice agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service 
agreements. Details of these agreements are as follows:

Name:	� David Morrison

Title:	� Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Agreement commenced:�	 21 March 2011

Term of agreement:	� No fixed period

Details:	� Remuneration package of $340,000 plus short term incentives based on 
financial performance of the company for the year.

Executives’ employment contracts require employees to provide three months notice or the company  
to provide a standard three months notice. Other than the terms outlined, the employment contracts of  
key management personnel are consistent with normal employment contracts of the company.

In addition, all executives are entitled to annual bonuses payable upon the achievement of annual 
profitability measures and other KPI’s including achievement of new business targets.

Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal  
for misconduct.
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D	S hare-based compensation

Issue of shares

There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation 
during the year ended 30 June 2011.

Options

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in this financial year or future 
reporting years are as follows:

Grant date
Vesting date and  
exercisable date Expiry date

Exercise 
price

Fair value 
per option 

at grant date

1 July 2007 1 July 2009 30 June 2012 $0.39 $0.39

1 July 2008 Conditional * 30 June 2013 $0.40 $0.40

* �Options vest no earlier than 1 July 2010 provided the earnings per share (‘EPS’) has grown by 10% per annum cumulative, on the 
30 June 2008 financial year EPS.

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.

Of the 350,000 options on issue at 30 June 2011, 200,000 remained unvested.

There were no options granted to or exercised by directors and other key management personnel as part 
of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2011.

Values of options over ordinary shares granted, exercised and lapsed for directors and other key 
management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2011 are set out below:

Value of  
options 
granted 

during the 
year

Value of  
options 

exercised 
during the 

year

 
Value of 
options 
lapsed 

during the 
year

Remuneration 
consisting of 

options 
for the 

year

$ $ $ %

Matthew Mellor  -   -  78,000  -  

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.
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Shares under option

Unissued ordinary shares of Adcorp Australia Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date
Exercise 

price
Number 

under option

1 July 2007 30 June 2012 $0.39 150,000 

1 July 2008 30 June 2013 $0.40 200,000 

350,000 

Shares issued on the 
exercise of options

There were no shares of Adcorp Australia 
Limited issued on the exercise of options during 
the year ended 30 June 2011.

Indemnity and insurance of officers

The company has indemnified the directors of 
the company for costs incurred, in their capacity 
as a director, for which they may be held 
personally liable, except where there is a lack of 
good faith.

Adcorp Australia Limited paid an insurance 
premium of $15,880 in respect of a contract 
insuring each of the directors of the company 
named earlier in this report, and each director 
and secretary of the consolidated entity, against 
all liabilities and expenses arising as a result of 
work performed in their respective capacities, to 
the extent permitted by law.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor

The company has not, during or since the 
financial year, indemnified or agreed to 
indemnify the auditor of the company or 
any related entity against a liability incurred 
by the auditor.

During the financial year, the company has 
not paid a premium in respect of a contract 
to insure the auditor of the company or 
any related entity.

Proceedings on behalf 
of the company

No person has applied to the Court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
company, or to intervene in any proceedings to 
which the company is a party for the purpose of 
taking responsibility on behalf of the company 
for all or part of those proceedings.

Non-audit services

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the 
auditor for non-audit services provided during 
the financial year by the auditor are outlined in 
note 27 to the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of 
non-audit services during the financial year, by 
the auditor (or by another person or firm on the 
auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed 
by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the 
services as disclosed in note 27 to the 
financial statements do not compromise 
the external auditor’s independence for the 
following reasons:

• �all non-audit services have been reviewed and 
approved to ensure that they do not impact 
the integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and

• �none of the services undermine the general 
principles relating to auditor independence 
as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants issued by 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board, including reviewing or 
auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a 
management or decision-making capacity 
for the company, acting as advocate for the 
company or jointly sharing economic risks and 
rewards.

Officers of the company who 
are former audit partners of 
Ernst & Young

There are no officers of the company who are 
former audit partners of Ernst & Young.
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Rounding of amounts

The company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in 
accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out on the following page.

Auditor

Ernst & Young continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

	

David Morrison	 Bob Campbell 
Director and Chief Executive Officer	 Chairman

26 August 2011

Sydney
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Statement of Corporate 
Governance
The Board of Directors aim to achieve good 
practice in the area of corporate governance 
and business conduct. Consistent with this 
aim, the Company has followed the good 
practice recommendations established in 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
‘Principles of Good Corporate Governance 
and Good Practice Recommendations’. The 
following is a summary of the current position 
of the Company.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight

The primary role of the Board is the 
protection and enhancement of shareholder 
value. The Board has established a Board 
Charter. Responsibility for the operation and 
administration of the consolidated entity is 
delegated by the Board to the Managing 
Director and the executive team. The Board 
ensures that this team is appropriately 
qualified and experienced to discharge their 
responsibilities.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that 
management objectives and activities are 
aligned with the expectations and risks identified 
by the Board. In addition to the Committees 
referred to below, the Board achieves this by:

• �approval of the strategic direction designed 
to meet stakeholders’ needs and manage 
business risk

• �approving and monitoring financial reporting of 
the Company

• �implementation of operating plans and 
budgets by management and monitoring 
progress against budget

• �monitoring senior management’s performance 
and implementation of strategy, and ensuring 
the appropriate resources are available

• �approving and monitoring the progress of 
acquisitions and major capital expenditure.

Subject to normal privacy requirements, 
Directors have access to Company records 
and information, to the Company Secretary 
and other relevant senior officers, and 
receive regular detailed reports on financial 
and operational aspects of the Company’s 
business. Each Director has the added right to 
seek independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense.

Principle 2: Structure the  
Board to add value

Composition of the Board

The Directors’ Report contains details of the 
Directors’ skills, experience, education and 
length of service.

The composition of the Board is deemed 
appropriate and is determined in accordance 
with the following principles and guidelines:

• �the Board should have effective composition, 
size and commitment to adequately discharge 
its responsibilities and duties

• �the Chairman must be an independent 
Director

• �the Board consists of Directors with an 
appropriate range of experience, skill and 
knowledge.

The Board currently comprises three Directors, 
of whom one is an independent Director. 
An independent Director is a Non-Executive 
Director and;

• �is not a substantial shareholder of the 
Company, or an officer of, or otherwise 
associated directly with, a substantial 
shareholder of the Company

• �within the last three years, has not been 
employed in an executive capacity by the 
consolidated entity or has been a Director 
after ceasing to hold any such employment

• �within the last three years, has not been 
a principal or professional advisor to the 
consolidated entity

• �is not directly or indirectly a material supplier 
or customer, being 5% or greater, of the 
Company

• �has no material contractual relationship, 
being of value greater than $100,000, with the 
consolidated entity other than as Director

• �has not served on the Board for a period 
greater than 10 years

• �is free from any interest and any business 
or other relationship, which could, or could 
reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere 
with the Director’s ability to act in the best 
interests of the Company.



47

The current Board structure is inconsistent 
with good practice recommendation 2.1 (the 
majority of the Board should be independent 
Directors). This structure, however, is considered 
appropriate to the extent and nature of 
Company operations. The current structure 
allows for more proactive communication 
between Directors and more effective decision 
making. All Directors have a full understanding 
and competence to deal with emerging issues 
of the business. The Non-Executive Directors, 
in addition, can effectively review and challenge 
the performance of management and exercise 
independent judgement.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and 
responsible decision making

Ethical Standards and Performance

The Board acknowledges the need for 
continued maintenance of the highest standards 
of corporate governance practice and ethical 
conduct by all Directors and employees. 
Adcorp is committed to meeting its legal and 
other obligations to stakeholders, including 
shareholders, employees and customers.

Adcorp has a Code of Conduct, which sets 
out the behaviour required of Directors and 
employees. The Code provides a mechanism 
to enable employees to report breaches of the 
Code without any fear of retribution.

A fundamental requirement of the Code is 
that all business affairs are conducted legally, 
ethically and with the strict observance of the 
highest standards of integrity and propriety. 
The Directors and management have the 
responsibility to carry out their functions with a 
view of maximising financial performance of the 
consolidated entity. This concerns the propriety 
of decision making in conflict of interest 
situations and quality of decision making for the 
benefit of shareholders.

Specifically, the position concerning the issue 
of Board and Employee trading in company 
securities is as follows:

Share Ownership and Dealing

The Company has a Share Trading Policy 
designed to assist Directors and employees to 
avoid insider trading and provide guidelines for 
trading in Adcorp securities.

The policy allows for the buying and selling of 
the Company’s shares by Directors and senior 
management during a 30 day period following 
the release of the final and half-yearly results. 
Directors and senior management are precluded 
in trading in Adcorp shares at any time if they 

are aware of price sensitive information that has 
not been made public.

In January 2011, the company released to 
market its updated share trading policy to 
comply with the updated listing rules of the ASX.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in 
financial reporting

Adcorp has a structure to verify and safeguard 
the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting 
independently. The principal components of 
this are the Audit Committee, external auditors 
and the certification provided to the Board 
by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Financial Officer.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee operates under a Charter 
approved by the Board. Their functions are 
as follows:

• �to ensure compliance with statutory 
responsibilities relating to the accounting 
policy and disclosure by full review of 
half-yearly and annual financial statements

• �assessment of the management processes 
and operating controls supporting 
external reporting

• �liaise with, assesses the quality and reviews 
the scope of work and reports of the external 
auditors, and whether the Audit Committee 
is satisfied that independence of this function 
has been maintained, having regard to the 
provision of non-audit activities

• �assesses the effectiveness of the 
management of business risk and the 
reliability of management reporting.

The Audit Committee consists only of Non-
Executive Directors.

The members of the Audit Committee during or 
since the end of the financial year are:

• �Ian Rodwell (Chairman)

• �Bob Campbell
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Statement of Corporate 
Governance
Principle 5: Make timely and 
balanced disclosure

Shareholder Relations

Adcorp has policies in place in relation to 
Shareholder communications. The Board 
seeks to inform shareholders of all major 
developments affecting the Company by:

• �preparing half-yearly financial reports and 
making these available to all shareholders

• �advising shareholders of the key issues 
affecting the Company

• �submitting proposed major changes in the 
Company’s affairs to a vote of shareholders, 
as required by the Corporations Act 2001

• �conducting shareholder information sessions 
to maintain the efficiency of the market

• �holding an Annual General Meeting each 
year to enable shareholders to receive 
reports by the Board of the Company’s 
activities. All shareholders who are unable 
to attend these meetings are encouraged 
to communicate issues or ask questions by 
writing to the Company

• �publishing regular news articles 
and performance updates on the 
Company’s website.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of 
shareholders

The Board is committed to empowering 
shareholders by:

• �communicating effectively with them

• �giving them ready access to accurate and 
understandable information about Adcorp’s 
strategy and performance

• �encouraging participation at shareholder 
meetings

• �having Auditors attend the Annual General 
Meeting to be available to answer shareholder 
questions

Principle 7: Recognise 
and manage risk

The Audit Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the Company’s risk, exposures and 
compliance with statutory obligations.

Adcorp has systems in place to identify, assess, 
monitor and manage risk. The Company has 
documented its key risks and action plans to 
manage risk. Managers of all the Company’s 
business units report regularly to the Board on 
the key risks that may influence achievement of 
their business objectives.

The Board received assurance from the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
that the declaration in accordance with s295 
of the Corporations Act is founded on a solid 
system of internal control and that the system 
is operating effectively in all material respects in 
relation to financial reporting risks.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly 
and responsibly

The Board has established a Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee to consider and report 
on, among other things, remuneration policies 
and packages applicable to Board members 
and senior management of the Company.

Two Directors, Mr Bob Campbell (Chairman) 
and Mr Ian Rodwell are members of the 
Committee and meet at least annually. Specific 
activities include:

• �remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer 
and his direct reports

• �proposals for incentive rewards

• �succession plans for senior management

• �proposals for issues under Employee Share 
Option Plans

• �performance of Chief Executive Officer and 
senior management

• �review the size, range of skills, and 
composition of the Board.

Adcorp has processes in place to review the 
performance of senior management and Board 
members. Each senior manager, including 
the Chief Executive Officer, has personal 
objectives as well as objectives related to 
business units and the Company as a whole. 
They are assessed against these objectives on 
an annual basis.

The Board Charter provides for annual reviews 
of the performance of the Board in achieving 
shareholder and stakeholder expectations and 
identifies any particular goals and objectives for 
the next year.
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General information

The financial report covers Adcorp Australia Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Adcorp Australia 
Limited and the entities it controlled. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is Adcorp 
Australia Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

The financial report consists of the financial statements, notes to the financial statements and the directors’ 
declaration.

Adcorp Australia Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Level 1 
7 Kelly Street 
Ultimo NSW 2007

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities are included in 
the directors’ report, which is not part of the financial report.

The financial report was authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 26 August 
2011. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report.
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Statement of comprehensive 
income
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated

Note 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Revenue 4 29,525 31,118 

 
Other income 5 5  -  

 
Expenses

Client service expenses (18,968) (21,192)

Administrative expenses (1,330) (1,621)

Marketing expenses (1,846) (1,650)

Office and communication expenses (5,090) (5,685)

Finance costs 6 (86) (27)

Impairment of goodwill  -  (7,099)

Impairment of fixed assets (5) (744)

Impairment of software  -  (132)

 
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 2,205 (7,032)

 
Income tax expense 7 (935) (69)

 
Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the year 1,270 (7,101)

 
Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation (170) 90 

 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (170) 90 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,100 (7,011)

 
Profit/(loss) for the year is attributable to:

Non-controlling interest (122) 37 

Owners of Adcorp Australia Limited 22 1,392 (7,138)

 
1,270 (7,101)

 
Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:

Non-controlling interest (122) 37 

Owners of Adcorp Australia Limited 1,222 (7,048)

 
1,100 (7,011)

 
Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 36 2.29 (11.76)

Diluted earnings per share 36 2.29 (11.76)

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2011

Consolidated

Note 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Assets 
 
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 10,273 10,875 

Trade and other receivables 9 28,557 29,101 

Income tax refund due 10 65 145 

Other 11 168 150 

Total current assets 39,063 40,271 

 
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,350 957 

Intangibles 13 3,154 3,330 

Deferred tax 14 1,283 1,264 

Total non-current assets 5,787 5,551 

 
Total assets 44,850 45,822 

 
Liabilities 
 
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 34,519 35,974 

Income tax 16 424 471 

Provisions 17 898 1,061 

Total current liabilities 35,841 37,506 

 
Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax 18 4 33 

Provisions 19 623 394 

 
Total non-current liabilities 627 427 

 
Total liabilities 36,468 37,933 

 
Net assets 8,382 7,889 

 
Equity

Contributed equity 20 28,894 28,894 

Reserves 21 (468) (298)

Accumulated losses 22 (19,972) (20,757)

Equity attributable to the owners of Adcorp Australia Limited 8,454 7,839 

Non-controlling interest 23 (72) 50 

 
Total equity 8,382 7,889 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Accumulated 
losses

Non- 
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated 
Balance at 1 July 2009 28,894 (388) (13,619) 274 15,161 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax  -  90  -   -  90 

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the 
year  -   -  (7,138) 37 (7,101)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  90 (7,138) 37 (7,011)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Dividends paid  -   -   -  (261) (261)

 
Balance at 30 June 2010 28,894 (298) (20,757) 50 7,889 

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Accumulated 
losses

Non- 
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated 
Balance at 1 July 2010 28,894 (298) (20,757) 50 7,889 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax  -  (170)  -   -  (170)

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the 
year  -   -  1,392 (122) 1,270 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  (170) 1,392 (122) 1,100 

 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:

Dividends paid  -   -  (607)  -  (607)

 
Balance at 30 June 2011 28,894 (468) (19,972) (72) 8,382 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated

Note 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities 
 
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 171,686 175,859 

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST) (169,898) (170,560)

1,788 5,299 

 
Interest received 259 187 

Interest and other finance costs paid (86) (27)

Income taxes refunded  -  471 

Income taxes paid (950)  -  

 
Net cash from operating activities 35 1,011 5,930 

 
Cash flows from investing activities 
 
Payments for property, plant and equipment 12 (752) (179)

Payments for intangibles 13 (292) (415)

Payments for security deposits (7)  -  

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 36 4 

Proceeds from sale of intangibles 9  -  

 
Net cash used in investing activities (1,006) (590)

 
Cash flows from financing activities 
 
Dividends paid 24 (607) (261)

 
Net cash used in financing activities (607) (261)

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (602) 5,079 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 10,875 5,768 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash  -  28 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 10,273 10,875 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of the financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.

New, revised or amending 
Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations adopted

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the 
new, revised or amending Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are 
mandatory for the current reporting period.

Except for AASB 2010-4, which was early 
adopted last year, all other new, revised 
or amending Accounting Standards or 
Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have 
not been early adopted.

Any significant impact on the accounting 
policies of the consolidated entity from the 
adoption of these Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations are disclosed in the relevant 
accounting policy.

The adoption of these Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations did not have any impact 
on the financial performance or position of the 
consolidated entity. The following Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations are most relevant 
to the consolidated entity:

AASB 2 Share-based Payment Transactions 
– amendments for Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions

The consolidated entity has applied the 
amendments to AASB 2 from 1 July 2010. The 
amendments clarified the scope of AASB 2 
by requiring an entity that receives goods or 
services in a share-based payment arrangement 
to account for those goods or services no 
matter which entity in the consolidated entity 
settles the transaction, and no matter whether 
the transaction is settled in shares or cash. 

Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial 
Liabilities with Equity Instruments

The consolidated entity has applied 
Interpretation 19 from 1 July 2010. The 
interpretation clarified that equity instruments 
issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial 

liability qualifies as consideration paid. The 
equity instruments issued are measured at their 
fair value, or if not reliably measured, at the fair 
value of the liability extinguished, with any gain 
or loss recognised in profit or loss.

AASB 2009-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project

The consolidated entity has applied AASB 
2009-5 amendments from 1 July 2010. The 
amendments result in some accounting 
changes for presentation, recognition 
or measurement purposes, while some 
amendments that relate to terminology and 
editorial changes had no or minimal effect on 
accounting. The main changes were:

AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial 
Statements’ – classification is not affected by 
the terms of a liability that could be settled by 
the issuance of equity instruments at the option 
of the counterparty;

AASB 107 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ –  
only expenditure that results in a recognised 
asset can be classified as a cash flow from 
investing activities;

AASB 117 ‘Leases’ – removal of specific 
guidance on classifying land as a lease;

AASB 118 ‘Revenue’ – provides additional 
guidance to determine whether an entity is 
acting as a principal or agent; and

AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets’ – clarifies 
that the largest unit permitted for allocating 
goodwill, acquired in a business combination, 
is the operating segment as defined in AASB8 
‘Operating Segments’ before aggregation for 
reporting purposes.

AASB 2009-10 Amendments to AASB 132 – 
Classification of Rights Issues

The consolidated entity has applied AASB 
2009-10 from 1 July 2010. The amendments 
clarified that rights, options or warrants to 
acquire a fixed number of an entity’s own equity 
instruments for a fixed amount in any currency 
are equity instruments if the entity offers the 
rights, options or warrants pro-rata to all existing 
owners of the same class of its own non-
derivative equity instruments. The amendment 
therefore provides relief to entities that issue 
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rights in a currency other than their functional 
currency from treating the rights as derivatives 
with fair value changes recorded in profit or loss.

AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project

The consolidated entity has applied AASB 
2010-3 amendments from 1 July 2010. The 
amendments result in some accounting 
changes for presentation, recognition 
or measurement purposes, while some 
amendments that relate to terminology and 
editorial changes had no or minimal effect on 
accounting. The main changes were:

AASB 127 ‘Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements’ and AASB 3 Business 
Combinations – clarifies that contingent 
consideration from a business combination 
that occurred before the effective date of 
revised AASB 3 is not restated; the scope of 
the measurement choices of non-controlling 
interest is limited to when the rights acquired 
include entitlement to a proportionate share 
of net assets in the event of liquidation; 
requires an entity in a business combination 
to account for the replacement of acquiree’s 
share-based payment transactions, unreplaced 
and voluntarily replaced, by splitting between 
consideration and post combination expenses. 

Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001. 
These financial statements also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements 
requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the consolidated entity’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Parent entity information

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
these financial statements present the results 
of the consolidated entity only. Supplementary 
information about the parent entity is disclosed 
in note 31.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the assets and liabilities of all 
subsidiaries of Adcorp Australia Limited 
(‘company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 30 June 
2011 and the results of all subsidiaries for the 
year then ended. Adcorp Australia Limited and 
its subsidiaries together are referred to in these 
financial statements as the ‘consolidated entity’.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which 
the consolidated entity has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of 
more than one-half of the voting rights. The 
effects of potential exercisable voting rights are 
considered when assessing whether control 
exists. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the 
consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between 
entities in the consolidated entity are eliminated. 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of the impairment 
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for 
using the acquisition method of accounting. 
Refer to the ‘business combinations’ accounting 
policy for further details. A change in ownership 
interest, without the loss of control, is accounted 
for as an equity transaction, where the difference 
between the consideration transferred and the 
book value of the share of the non-controlling 
interest acquired is recognised directly in equity 
attributable to the parent.

Non-controlling interest in the results and 
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately 
in the statement of comprehensive income 
and statement of financial position of the 
consolidated entity. Losses incurred by the 
consolidated entity are attributed to the non-
controlling interest in full, even if that results in a 
deficit balance.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Where the consolidated entity loses control 
over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets 
including goodwill, liabilities and non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary together with any 
cumulative translation differences recognised in 
equity. The consolidated entity recognises the 
fair value of the consideration received and the 
fair value of any investment retained together 
with any gain or loss in profit or loss.

Operating segments

Operating segments are presented using the 
‘management approach’, where the information 
presented is on the same basis as the internal 
reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision 
Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible 
for the allocation of resources to operating 
segments and assessing their performance.

Foreign currency translation

The financial report is presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Adcorp Australia Limited’s 
functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into Australian dollars using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at financial year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations 
are translated into Australian dollars using 
the exchange rates at the reporting date. The 
revenues and expenses of foreign operations 
are translated into Australian dollars using the 
average exchange rates, which approximates 
the rate at the date of the transaction, for the 
period. All resulting foreign exchange differences 
are recognised in the foreign currency 
reserve in equity.

The foreign currency reserve is recognised in 
profit or loss when the foreign operation or net 
investment is disposed of.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that 
the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated 
entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable.

Operating revenues

Media, production and creative revenue, net 
of direct costs, are brought to account when 
billed to the client once an advertisement has 
appeared or published material produced. For 
cash flow purposes the amounts are shown as 
gross receipts and gross payments.

Dividends

Dividends revenue is recognised when received or 
when the right to receive payment is established.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest 
accrues using the effective interest method. 
This is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset and allocating the 
interest income over the relevant period using 
the effective interest rate, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to 
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rent

Rent revenue from investment properties is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Lease incentives granted are 
recognised as part of the rental revenue. 
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in 
the period when earned.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or 
when the right to receive payment is established.
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Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the 
period is the tax payable on that period’s 
taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted 
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences and 
unused tax losses and under and over provision 
in prior periods, where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised 
for temporary differences at the tax rates 
expected to apply when the assets are 
recovered or liabilities are settled, based on 
those tax rates that are enacted or substantively 
enacted, except for:

• �When the deferred income tax asset or liability 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
nor taxable profits; or

• �When the taxable temporary difference is 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates or interests in joint ventures, 
and the timing of the reversal can be 
controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for 
deductible temporary differences and unused 
tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and 
unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed 
each reporting date. Deferred tax assets 
recognised are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that future taxable profits 
will be available for the carrying amount to be 
recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that there are future taxable profits 
available to recover the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
only where there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against 
deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the 
same taxable authority on either the same 
taxable entity or different taxable entity’s which 
intend to settle simultaneously.

Adcorp Australia Limited (the ‘head entity’) and 
its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities 
have formed an income tax consolidated group 
under the tax consolidation regime. The head 

entity and the controlled entities in the tax 
consolidated group continue to account for their 
own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax 
consolidated group has applied the ‘separate 
taxpayer within group’ approach in determining 
the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to 
members of the tax consolidated group.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax 
amounts, the head entity also recognises the 
current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred 
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits assumed from controlled 
entities in the tax consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding 
agreements with the tax consolidated entities 
are recognised as amounts receivable from or 
payable to other entities in the tax consolidated 
group. The tax funding arrangement ensures that 
the intercompany charge equals the current tax 
liability or benefit of each tax consolidated group 
member, resulting in neither a contribution by the 
head entity to the subsidiaries nor a distribution 
by the subsidiaries to the head entity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash 
on hand, deposits held at call with financial 
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less 
any provision for impairment. Trade receivables 
are generally due for settlement within 30 days. 
The company has a trade credit policy in place 
at 30 June 2011.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known 
to be uncollectable are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. A provision for 
impairment of trade receivables is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the consolidated 
entity will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and 
default or delinquency in payments (more than 
60 days overdue) are considered indicators 
that the trade receivable may be impaired. The 
amount of the impairment allowance is the 
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term 
receivables are not discounted if the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised 
cost, less any provision for impairment.

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis to write off the net cost of each item of 
plant and equipment over their expected useful 
lives as follows:

Office equipment	 3-5 years

Plant and equipment	 over lease term

The residual values, useful lives and 
depreciation methods are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to the consolidated entity. 
Gains and losses between the carrying amount 
and the disposal proceeds are taken to 
profit or loss.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is 
or contains a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement and requires an assessment 
of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset.

A distinction is made between finance leases, 
which effectively transfer from the lessor 
to the lessee substantially all the risks and 
benefits incidental to ownership of leased 
assets, and operating leases, under which the 
lessor effectively retains substantially all such 
risks and benefits.

Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset 
and liability are established at the present value 

of minimum lease payments. Lease payments 
are allocated between the principal component 
of the lease liability and the finance costs, so 
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Leased assets acquired under a finance lease 
are depreciated over the asset’s useful life 
or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life 
and the lease term if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the consolidated entity will obtain 
ownership at the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments, net of any incentives 
received from the lessor, are charged to profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business 
combination, other than goodwill, are initially 
measured at their fair value at the date of 
the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired 
separately are initially recognised at cost. 
Intangible assets are subsequently measured 
at cost less amortisation and any impairment. 
The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss 
arising from the derecognition of intangible 
assets are measured as the difference between 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the intangible asset. The method and useful 
lives of finite life intangibles are reviewed 
annually. Changes in the expected pattern of 
consumption or useful life are accounted for 
prospectively by changing the amortisation 
method or period.

Goodwill

Where an entity or operation is acquired in a 
business combination, the identifiable net assets 
acquired are measured at fair value. The excess 
of the fair value of the cost of the acquisition 
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is brought to account as goodwill. 
Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill 
is tested annually for impairment, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to 
profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed.
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Software licences

Significant costs associated with software are 
deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the period of their expected benefit, being 
their finite life of 2 to 3 years.

Customer lists

Costs in relation to customer lists of the 
consolidated entity are capitalised as an 
asset and amortised on a straightline basis 
over 3 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets that 
have an indefinite useful life are not subject 
to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired. Other non-financial assets 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. 
The value-in-use is the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows relating to the asset 
using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the 
asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. Assets that do not have independent 
cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-
generating unit.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods 
and services provided to the consolidated 
entity prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature 
they are measured at amortised cost and not 
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and 
are usually paid within 30 days of recognition 
except for media creditors who are on 45 day 
terms. Other payables have repayment terms of 
less than 12 months.

Finance costs

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets 
are capitalised as part of the asset. All other 
finance costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the 
consolidated entity has a present (legal or 
constructive) obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable the consolidated entity 
will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. The amount recognised 
as a provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. If the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision resulting from the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Employee benefits

Wages and salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including 
non-monetary benefits, and annual leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date are recognised in current 
liabilities in respect of employees’ services up 
to the reporting date and are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised 
in current and non-current liabilities, depending 
on the unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date. The liability is measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date using the 
projected unit credit method. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting 
date on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity and currency that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation plans are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based 
compensation benefits are provided to 
employees. There is currently an employee 
share option plan (‘ESOP’) in 
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place which provides benefits to directors 
and senior executives.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of 
shares, or options over shares, that are provided 
to employees in exchange for the rendering of 
services. Cash-settled transactions are awards 
of cash for the exchange of services, where the 
amount of cash is determined by reference to 
the share price.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are 
measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value 
is independently determined using either the 
Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model 
that takes into account the exercise price, the 
term of the option, the impact of dilution, the 
share price at grant date and expected price 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected 
dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for 
the term of the option, together with non-vesting 
conditions that do not determine whether the 
consolidated entity receives the services that 
entitle the employees to receive payment. No 
account is taken of any other vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are 
recognised as an expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity over the vesting period. The 
cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated 
based on the grant date fair value of the award, 
the best estimate of the number of awards that 
are likely to vest and the expired portion of the 
vesting period. The amount recognised in profit 
or loss for the period is the cumulative amount 
calculated at each reporting date less amounts 
already recognised in previous periods.

The cost of cash-settled transactions is 
initially, and at each reporting date until vested, 
determined by applying either the Binomial or 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking 
into consideration the terms and conditions on 
which the award was granted. The cumulative 
charge to profit or loss until settlement of the 
liability is calculated as follows:

• �during the vesting period, the liability at each 
reporting date is the fair value of the award at 
that date multiplied by the expired portion of 
the vesting period.

• �from the end of the vesting period until 
settlement of the award, the liability is the full 
fair value of the liability at the reporting date.

All changes in the liability are recognised 
in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-
settled transactions is the cash paid to settle 
the liability.

Equity-settled awards by the parent to 
employees of subsidiaries are recognised in 
the parent’s individual financial statements as 
an increase in investment in the subsidiary 
with a corresponding credit to equity and not 
as a charge to profit or loss. The investment in 
subsidiary is reduced by any contribution by 
the subsidiary.

Market conditions are taken into consideration 
in determining fair value. Therefore any awards 
subject to market conditions are considered to 
vest irrespective of whether or not that market 
condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as 
a minimum an expense is recognised as 
if the modification has not been made. An 
additional expense is recognised, over the 
remaining vesting period, for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the 
share-based compensation benefit as at the 
date of modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within the control 
of the consolidated entity or employee, the 
failure to satisfy the condition is treated as a 
cancellation. If the condition is not within the 
control of the consolidated entity or employee 
and is not satisfied during the vesting period, 
any remaining expense for the award is 
recognised over the remaining vesting period, 
unless the award is forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it 
is treated as if it has vested on the date of 
cancellation, and any remaining expense is 
recognised immediately. If a new replacement 
award is substituted for the cancelled award, the 
cancelled and new award is treated as if they 
were a modification.

Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to 
the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.
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Dividends

Dividends are recognised when declared during 
the financial year and no longer at the discretion 
of the company.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to 
account for business combinations regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets 
are acquired.

The consideration transferred is the sum of 
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred, equity instruments issued or 
liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former 
owners of the acquiree and the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For 
each business combination, the non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree is measured at either 
fair value or at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All acquisition 
costs are expensed as incurred to profit or loss.

On the acquisition of a business, the 
consolidated entity assesses the financial assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance 
with the contractual terms, economic 
conditions, the consolidated entity’s operating 
or accounting policies and other pertinent 
conditions in existence at the acquisition-date.

Where the business combination is achieved in 
stages, the consolidated entity remeasures its 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree at 
the acquisition-date fair value and the difference 
between the fair value and the previous carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration to be transferred by 
the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair 
value of contingent consideration classified as 
an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is 
not remeasured and its subsequent settlement 
is accounted for within equity.

The difference between the acquisition-date fair 
value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the consideration transferred 
and the fair value of any pre-existing investment 
in the acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If 
the consideration transferred and the pre-
existing fair value is less than the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired, being a 
bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference 
is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss 
by the acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only 

after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired, the 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, 
the consideration transferred and the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquirer.

Business combinations are initially accounted 
for on a provisional basis. The acquirer 
retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts 
recognised and also recognises additional 
assets or liabilities during the measurement 
period, based on new information obtained 
about the facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition-date. The measurement 
period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 months 
from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the 
acquirer receives all the information possible to 
determine fair value.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to the owners of 
Adcorp Australia Limited, excluding any costs of 
servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted 
for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued 
during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures 
used in the determination of basic earnings 
per share to take into account the after income 
tax effect of interest and other financing costs 
associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of 
shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential 

ordinary shares.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’)  
and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised 
net of the amount of associated GST, unless the 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the tax 
authority. In this case it is recognised as part of 
the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive 
of the amount of GST receivable or payable. 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the tax authority is included in other 
receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position.
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Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. 
The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing or financing activities which are 
recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, 
are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the tax authority.

Comparative information

Certain comparatives have been reclassified to 
be consistent with current year presentation.

Rounding of amounts

The company is of a kind referred to in Class 
Order 98/100, issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission, 
relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report 
have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or 
in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

New Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations not yet mandatory or 
early adopted

Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations that have recently been issued or 
amended but are not yet mandatory, have not 
been early adopted by the consolidated entity 
for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 
2011. The consolidated entity’s assessment 
of the impact of these new or amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
most relevant to the consolidated entity, 
are set out below.

IFRS 10 (AASB 10) Consolidated Financial 
Statements

This standard is applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
The standard has a new definition of ‘control’. 
Control exists when the reporting entity is 
exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns 
(e.g. dividends, remuneration, returns that are 
not available to other interest holders including 
losses) from its involvement with another entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its ‘power’ over that other entity. A 
reporting entity has power when it has rights 

(e.g. voting rights, potential voting rights, rights 
to appoint key management, decision making 
rights, kick out rights) that give it the current 
ability to direct the activities that significantly 
affect the investee’s returns (e.g. operating 
policies, capital decisions, appointment of 
key management). The consolidated entity 
will not only have to consider its holdings and 
rights but also the holdings and rights of other 
shareholders in order to determine whether 
it has the necessary power for consolidation 
purposes. The adoption of this standard from 
1 July 2013 may have an impact where the 
consolidated entity has a holding of less than 
50% in an entity, has de facto control, and is not 
currently consolidating that entity.

IFRS 11 (AASB 11) Joint Arrangements

This standard is applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
The standard defines which entities qualify 
as joint ventures and removes the option to 
account for joint ventures using proportional 
consolidation. Joint ventures, where the 
parties to the agreement have the rights to the 
net assets will use equity accounting. Joint 
Operations, where the parties to the agreements 
have the rights to the assets and obligations 
for the liabilities will account for the assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses separately, 
using proportionate consolidation. The adoption 
of this standard from 1 July 2013 will not have a 
material impact on the consolidated entity.

IFRS 12 (AASB 12) Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities

This standard is applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 
It contains the entire disclosure requirement 
associated with other entities, being 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. The 
disclosure requirements have been significantly 
enhanced when compared to the disclosures 
previously located in AASB 127 ‘Consolidation 
and Separate Financial Statements’, AASB 128 
‘Investments in Associates’, AASB 131 ‘Interests 
in Joint Ventures’, Interpretation 12 ‘Service 
Concession Arrangements’ and Interpretation 
13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programme’. The 
adoption of this standard from 1 July 2013 will 
significantly increase the amount of disclosures 
required to be given by the consolidated 
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entity such as significant judgements and 
assumptions made by the consolidated entity 
in determining whether it has a controlling or 
non-controlling interest in another entity and the 
type of non-controlling interest and the nature 
and risks involved. 

IFRS 13 (AASB 13) Fair Value Measurement

This standard is applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013. The standard provides a single 
robust measurement framework, with clear 
measurement objectives, for measuring fair 
value using the ‘exit price’ and it provides 
guidance on measuring fair value when a 
market becomes less active. The ‘highest and 
best use’ approach would be used to measure 
assets, but not liabilities. As the standard does 
not introduce any new requirements for the 
use of fair value, its impact on adoption by the 
consolidated entity from 1 July 2013 should 
be minimal, although there will be increased 
disclosures where fair value is used.

IAS 1 (AASB 101) Presentation of Financial 
Statements (Revised)

This revised standard is applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2012. The amendments requires grouping 
together of items within other comprehensive 
income on the basis of whether they will 
eventually be ‘recycled’ to the profit or loss. 
The change provides clarity about the nature 
of items presented as other comprehensive 
income and their future impact. The adoption 
of the revised standard from 1 July 2012 will 
impact the consolidated entity’s presentation of 
its statement of comprehensive income.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, 2009-11 
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 and 2010-
7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9

This standard and its consequential 
amendments are applicable to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 
and completes phase I of the IASB’s project 
to replace IAS 39 (being the international 
equivalent to AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’). This standard 
introduces new classification and measurement 
models for financial assets, using a single 
approach to determine whether a financial asset 
is measured at amortised cost or fair value. 
To be classified and measured at amortised 
cost, assets must satisfy the business model 
test for managing the financial assets and have 
certain contractual cash flow characteristics. 
All other financial instrument assets are to be 

classified and measured at fair value. This 
standard allows an irrevocable election on 
initial recognition to present gains and losses 
on equity instruments (that are not held-for-
trading) in other comprehensive income, with 
dividends as a return on these investments 
being recognised in profit or loss. In addition, 
those equity instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 
would no longer have to apply any impairment 
requirements nor would there be any ‘recycling’ 
of gains or losses through profit or loss on 
disposal. The accounting for financial liabilities 
continues to be classified and measured in 
accordance with AASB 139, with one exception, 
being that the portion of a change of fair value 
relating to the entity’s own credit risk is to be 
presented in other comprehensive income 
unless it would create an accounting mismatch. 
The consolidated entity will adopt this standard 
from 1 July 2013 but the impact of its adoption 
is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity.

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures 
(December 2009)

This revised standard is applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011. This revised standard 
simplifies the definition of a related party by 
clarifying its intended meaning and eliminating 
inconsistencies from the definition. The definition 
now identifies a subsidiary and an associate 
with the same investor as related parties of 
each other; entities significantly influenced by 
one person and entities significantly influenced 
by a close member of the family of that person 
are no longer related parties of each other; 
and whenever a person or entity has both joint 
control over a second entity and joint control 
or significant influence over a third party, the 
second and third entities are related to each 
other. This revised standard introduces a 
partial exemption of disclosure requirement for 
government-related entities. The adoption of 
this standard from 1 July 2011 will not have a 
material impact on the consolidated entity.

IAS 27 (AASB 127) Separate Financial 
Statements (Revised)

IAS 28 (AASB 128) Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures (Reissued)

These standards are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013. They have been modified to 
remove specific guidance that is now contained 
in IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. The 
adoption of these revised standards from 1 
July 2013 will not have a material impact on the 
consolidated entity.
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AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards

These amendments are applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011. These amendments 
make numerous editorial amendments to a 
range of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations, which have no major 
impact on the requirements of the amended 
pronouncements. The main amendment is to 
AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’ and requires 
an entity to exercise judgement in assessing 
whether a government and entities known to 
be under the control of that government are 
considered a single customer for the purposes 
of certain operating segment disclosures. The 
adoption of these amendments from 1 July 
2011 will not have a material impact on the 
consolidated entity.

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards

These amendments are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011. These amendments makes 
numerous editorial amendments to a range 
of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, including amendments to reflect 
changes made to the text of International 
Financial Reporting Standards by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. The 
adoption of these amendments from 1 July 
2011 will not have a material impact on the 
consolidated entity..

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Disclosures on 
Transfers of Financial Assets

These amendments are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2011. These amendments add and amend 
disclosure requirements in AASB 7 about 
transfer of financial assets, including the 
nature of the financial assets involved and 
the risks associated with them. The adoption 
of these amendments from 1 July 2011 will 
increase the disclosure requirements on the 
consolidated entity when an asset is transferred 
but is not derecognised and new disclosure 
required when assets are derecognised but 
the consolidated entity continues to have a 
continuing exposure to the asset after the sale.

AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards- Deferred Tax: Recovery 
of Underlying Assets

These amendments are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2012 and a practical approach for 
the measurement of deferred tax relating to 
investment properties measured at fair value, 
property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets measured using the revaluation model. 
The measurement of deferred tax for these 
specified assets is based on the presumption 
that the carrying amount of the underlying asset 
will be recovered entirely through sale, unless 
the entity has clear evidence that economic 
benefits of the underlying asset will be consumed 
during its economic life. The consolidated entity 
is yet to quantify the tax effect of adopting these 
amendments from 1 July 2012.

AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-
Tasman Convergence Project and AASB 
2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements

These amendments are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
July 2011. They make changes to a range 
of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations for the purpose of closer 
alignment to IFRSs and harmonisation between 
Australian and New Zealand Standards. 
The amendments remove certain guidance 
and definitions from Australian Accounting 
Standards for conformity of drafting with 
International Financial Reporting Standards but 
without any intention to change requirements. 
The adoption of these amendments from 1 
July 2011 will not have a material impact on the 
consolidated entity.

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key 
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirement

These amendments are applicable to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2013, with early adoption not permitted. They 
amend AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ 
by removing the disclosure requirements for 
individual key management personnel (‘KMP’). 
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The adoption of these amendments from 
1 July 2013 will remove the duplication of 
relating to individual KMP in the notes to the 
financial statements and the directors report. 
As the aggregate disclosures are still required 
by AASB 124 and during the transitional 
period the requirements may be included in 
the Corporations Act or other legislation, it is 
expected that the amendments may not have a 
material impact on the consolidated entity.

Note 2. Critical accounting 
judgements, estimates and 
assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements 
requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts in the financial statements. 
Management continually evaluates its 
judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, 
estimates and assumptions on historical 
experience and on other various factors, 
including expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting 
accounting judgements and estimates will 
seldom equal the related actual results. The 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

Share-based payment transactions

The consolidated entity measures the cost of 
equity-settled transactions with employees 
by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are 
granted. The fair value is determined by using 
either the Binomial or Black-Scholes model 
taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the instruments were granted. The 
accounting estimates and assumptions relating 
to equity-settled share-based payments would 
have no impact on the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period but may impact profit or loss 
and equity.

Provision for impairment of receivables

The provision for impairment of receivables 
assessment requires a degree of estimation and 
judgement. The level of provision is assessed by 
taking into account the recent sales experience, 
the ageing of receivables, historical collection 
rates and specific knowledge of the individual 
debtors financial position.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The consolidated entity determines the 
estimated useful lives and related depreciation 
and amortisation charges for its property, 
plant and equipment and definite life intangible 
assets. The useful lives could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations 
or some other event. The depreciation and 
amortisation charge will increase where the 
useful lives are less than previously estimated 
lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic 
assets that have been abandoned or sold will be 
written off or written down.

Goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets

The consolidated entity tests annually, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate impairment, whether goodwill and other 
indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 1. The recoverable amounts 
of cash-generating units have been determined 
based on value-in-use calculations. These 
calculations require the use of assumptions, 
including estimated discount rates based on the 
current cost of capital and growth rates of the 
estimated future cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than 
goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The consolidated entity assesses impairment 
of non-financial assets other than goodwill 
and other indefinite life intangible assets at 
each reporting date by evaluating conditions 
specific to the consolidated entity and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is determined. This involves 
fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use 
calculations, which incorporate a number of key 
estimates and assumptions.

Income tax

The consolidated entity is subject to income 
taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. 
Significant judgement is required in determining 
the provision for income tax. There are many 
transactions and calculations undertaken during 
the ordinary course of business for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. 
The consolidated entity recognises liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on the 
consolidated entity’s current understanding 
of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome 
of these matters is different from the carrying 
amounts, such differences will impact the 
current and deferred tax provisions in the period 
in which such determination is made.
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Recovery of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for 
deductible temporary differences only if the 
consolidated entity considers it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences and losses.

Long service leave provision

As discussed in note 1, the liability for long 
service leave is recognised and measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows 
to be made in respect of all employees at the 
reporting date. In determining the present value 
of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay 
increases through promotion and inflation have 
been taken into account.

Lease make good provision

A provision has been made for the present 
value of anticipated costs for future restoration 
of leased premises. The provision includes 
future cost estimates associated with closure of 
the premises. The calculation of this provision 
requires assumptions such as application 
of closure dates and cost estimates. The 
provision recognised for each site is periodically 
reviewed and updated based on the facts and 
circumstances available at the time. Changes 
to the estimated future costs for sites are 
recognised in the statement of financial position 
by adjusting both the expense or asset, if 
applicable, and provision.

Note 3. Operating segments

Identification of reportable operating segments

The consolidated entity has identified its 
operating segments based on the internal 
reports that are reviewed and used by the Board 
(the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM’)) 
in assessing performance and determining the 
allocation of resources.

The operating segments are identified based 
on the comparative geographical products 
and services, production process, regulatory 
environment and the separate identification 
of assets reported to the Board on a monthly 
basis. The consolidated entity’s products 
and services are the same within both 
geographical segments.

A further assessment is conducted based 
on the revenue and profit contribution by 
each segment to the consolidated entity’s 
result. Segments identified as meeting 
any of the 3 thresholds below, have been 
separately reported:

Reported revenue	� Greater than or 
equal to 10% of total 
combined revenues of 
the consolidated entity

Reported profit or loss	� Greater than or equal 
to 10% of the greater 
of (i) total profitable 
entities or (ii) total loss-
making entities

Assets	� Greater than or 
equal to 10% of 
combined assets of the 
consolidated entity

Intersegment transactions

Intersegment transactions were made at market 
rates. Intersegment transactions are eliminated 
on consolidation.

Corporate charges

Corporate charges comprise non-segmental 
expenses such as Head Office expenses and 
are allocated to each segment in proportion to 
the labour cost of that segment.

Inter-entity sales

Inter-entity sales are recognised based on a set 
standard cost.

Intersegment loans

Loans between Australia and New Zealand 
operating segments arise through transfer 
of funds to meet respective working capital 
payments, are non-interest bearing and do not 
have any other transaction charges attached

Income tax expense

Income tax expense is calculated based on the 
segment operating profit using a notional 30% 
rate (2010: 30%).

Major customers

There are no significant customers in any 
reported segment that comprise greater than 
10% of the segments aggregated revenues.
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Operating segment information

Australia New Zealand

Intersegment 
eliminations/ 

unallocated Consolidated

2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 
Revenue

Sales to external customers 26,092 3,085  -  29,177 

Total sales revenue 26,092 3,085  -  29,177 

Other income 475 42 (164) 353 

Total revenue 26,567 3,127 (164) 29,530 

 
Segment result 2,459 417 (164) 2,712 

Depreciation and amortisation (594) (92)  -  (686)

Impairment of assets (5)  -   -  (5)

Interest revenue 220 39  -  259 

Finance costs (86)  -   -  (86)

Other non-cash expenses 3 8  -  11 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 1,997 372 (164) 2,205 

Income tax expense (935)

Profit after income tax expense 1,270 

 
Assets

Segment assets 38,853 4,584 130 43,567 

Unallocated assets: 
Deferred tax asset 1,283 

Total assets 44,850 

 
Liabilities

Segment liabilities 34,937 1,397 130 36,464 

Unallocated liabilities: 
Deferred tax liability 4 

Total liabilities 36,468 



68

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 3. Operating segments (continued) 

Australia New Zealand

Intersegment 
eliminations/ 

unallocated Consolidated

2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 
Revenue

Sales to external customers 27,508 3,371  -  30,879 

Total sales revenue 27,508 3,371  -  30,879 

Other income 449 33 (243) 239 

Total revenue 27,957 3,404 (243) 31,118 

 
Segment result 1,401 401  -  1,802 

Depreciation and amortisation (832) (187)  -  (1,019)

Impairment of assets (6,643) (1,332)  -  (7,975)

Interest revenue 154 33  -  187 

Finance costs (27)  -   -  (27)

Loss before income tax expense (5,947) (1,085)  -  (7,032)

Income tax expense (69)

Loss after income tax expense (7,101)

 
Assets

Segment assets 40,003 4,555  -  44,558 

Unallocated assets: 
Deferred tax asset 1,264 

Total assets 45,822 

 
Liabilities

Segment liabilities 36,441 1,459  -  37,900 

Unallocated liabilities: 
Deferred tax liability 33 

Total liabilities 37,933 

Note 4.  Revenue 
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Sales revenue

Operating revenues 29,177 30,880 

 
Other revenue

Interest 259 187 

Rent 89 51 

348 238 

 
Revenue 29,525 31,118 
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Note 5.  Other income
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5  -  

Note 6.  Expenses
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Profit/(loss) before income tax includes the following specific expenses: 
 
Depreciation

Office equipment 147 155 

Plant and equipment 202 440 

 
Total depreciation 349 595 

 
Amortisation 
 
Software licences 332 351 

Customer lists 54 73 

 
Total amortisation 386 424 

 
Total depreciation and amortisation 735 1,019 

Impairment 
 
Office equipment 5 332 

Plant and equipment  -  412 

Goodwill  -  7,099 

Software  -  132 

 
Total impairment 5 7,975 

Finance costs

Bank loans and overdrafts 86 27 

Net foreign exchange loss

Net foreign exchange loss 17 121 

 
Net loss on disposal

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  1 

 
Rental expense relating to operating leases

Minimum lease payments 2,187 2,989 

Superannuation expense

Defined contribution superannuation expense 1,185 1,451 

 
Employee benefits expense

Employee benefits expense 14,346 16,442 
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Note 7.  Income tax expense
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Income tax expense

Current tax 946 475 

Deferred tax (48) (473)

Under provision in prior years 37 67 

 
Aggregate income tax expense 935 69 

 
Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:

Increase in deferred tax assets (note 14) (19) (505)

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 18) (29) 32 

 
(48) (473)

   

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 2,205 (7,032)

 
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% 662 (2,110)

 
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Impairment of assets  -  2,130 

Write-back of Andrews losses 127  -  

Expenditure non-deductible for tax purposes 33 30 

Non-assessable items 76 (27)

 
898 23 

Under provision in prior years 37 67 

Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped  -  (21)

 
Income tax expense 935 69 

Note 8.  Current assets - cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Cash at bank 10,273 10,875 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
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Note 9.  Current assets - trade and other receivables
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Trade receivables 28,043 28,490 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables (510) (519)

27,533 27,971 

 
Other receivables 1,024 1,130 

 
28,557 29,101 

Trade debtors and other receivables are non-interest bearing.

Impairment of receivables
The consolidated entity has recognised a net gain of $9,000 (2010: $185,000) in respect of doubtful debt provision for the year ended 
30 June 2011.

The ageing of the impaired receivables recognised above are as follows:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Over 3 months overdue 510 519 

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Opening balance 519 704 

Additional provisions recognised 184 17 

Unused amounts reversed (193) (202)

 
Closing balance 510 519 

Past due but not impaired

Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to $11,449,000 as at 30 June 2011 
($11,624,000 as at 30 June 2010). The consolidated entity did not consider a credit risk on the aggregate balances after reviewing 
agency credit information and credit terms of customers based on recent collection practices.

The ageing of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
1 to 3 months overdue 9,123 10,025 

Over 3 months overdue 2,326 1,599 

11,449 11,624 
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Note 10.  Current assets - income tax refund due
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Income tax refund due 65 145 

Note 11.  Current assets - other
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Prepayments 161 150 

Security deposits 7  -  

 
168 150 

Note 12.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Office equipment - at cost 1,955 1,693 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,224) (1,077)

Less: Impairment (337) (332)

394 284 

 
Plant and equipment - at cost 3,793 3,308 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,425) (2,223)

Less: Impairment (412) (412)

956 673 

 
1,350 957 
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Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Office 
equipment

Plant and 
equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2009 509 1,614 2,123 

Additions 163 16 179 

Disposals (1) (3) (4)

Exchange differences (2)  -  (2)

Impairment of assets (332) (412) (744)

Transfers in/(out) 102 (102)  -  

Depreciation expense (155) (440) (595)

 
Balance at 30 June 2010 284 673 957 

Additions 247 505 752 

Disposals (21) (10) (31)

Exchange differences 36 (10) 26 

Impairment of assets (5)  -  (5)

Depreciation expense (147) (202) (349)

 
Balance at 30 June 2011 394 956 1,350 

Note 13.  Non-current assets - intangibles
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Goodwill - at cost 10,443 10,522 

Less: Impairment (7,555) (7,555)

2,888 2,967 

 
Software licences - at cost 2,278 2,076 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,890) (1,635)

Less: Impairment (122) (132)

266 309 

 
Customer lists - at cost 133 133 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (133) (79)

 -  54 

 
3,154 3,330 
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Note 13.  Non-current assets - intangibles (continued)

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below:

Goodwill
Software 
licences

Customer 
list Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2009 10,048 500 2 10,550 

Additions  -  290 125 415 

Exchange differences 18 2  -  20 

Impairment of assets (7,099) (132)  -  (7,231)

Amortisation expense  -  (351) (73) (424)

 
Balance at 30 June 2010 2,967 309 54 3,330 

Additions  -  292  -  292 

Disposals  -  (9)  -  (9)

Revaluation increments  -  10  -  10 

Exchange differences (79) (4)  -  (83)

Amortisation expense  -  (332) (54) (386)

 
Balance at 30 June 2011 2,888 266  -  3,154 

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to cash generating units for impairment testing by office location. The 
recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use calculations using a discounted cash flow model with an adjusted Weighted 
Average Cost of Capital (‘WACC’) discount rate. The cash flow projections are based on budgets approved by the Board for the year 
ending 30 June 2012 plus four years of extrapolated results plus a terminal value. The average revenue growth rate is approximately 
3.6% (2010: 3.0%) per annum. The discount rate applied to cash flows is approximately 20% (2010: 18%).

During the current financial year there was no significant impairment. During the comparative period, the carrying value of goodwill 
was written down $7,099,000, the most significant portion being a $4.3 million write-down of the goodwill in 75% owned subsidiary, 
Andrews Advertising Pty Limited (‘Andrews’). A further $0.9 million write down of goodwill related to the value of the Quadrant 
investment.

A range of scenarios has been applied to test the sensitivity of the figures used to evaluate future sustainable cash flows in the cash 
generating units. Using financial year 30 June 2012 budgets for these CGU’s at 0% growth in future years, and a conservative WACC 
of 23%, no impairment indicators exist.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each cash generating unit is:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Victoria 358 358 

Queensland 785 785 

New Zealand 1,745 1,824 

 
2,888 2,967 



75

Note 14.  Non-current assets - deferred tax
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: 
 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Property, plant and equipment 141 325 

Employee benefits 358 400 

Other provisions 784 539 

 
Deferred tax asset 1,283 1,264 

 
Movements:

Opening balance 1,264 759 

Credited to profit or loss (note 7) 19 505 

 
Closing balance 1,283 1,264 

Note 15.  Current liabilities - trade and other payables
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Trade payables 27,304 30,741 

Other payables 7,215 5,233 

 
34,519 35,974 

Refer to note 25 for detailed information on financial instruments.

Note 16.  Current liabilities - income tax
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Provision for income tax 424 471 
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Note 17.  Current liabilities - provisions
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Employee benefits 853 984 

Deferred consideration  -  52 

Decommissioning 45 25 

 
898 1,061 

Decommissioning

The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the consolidated entity at the 
end of the respective lease terms.

Movements in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Deferred 
consideration

Decom- 
missioning

$’000 $’000

Consolidated - 2011

Carrying amount at the start of the year 52 25 

Additional provisions recognised  -  45 

Amounts used  -  (25)

Foreign exchange (3)  -  

Unused amounts reversed (49)  -  

 
Carrying amount at the end of the year  -  45 

Note 18.  Non-current liabilities - deferred tax
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: 
 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Accrued interest income  -  6 

Accrued income  -  2 

Work in progress  -  21 

Other 4 4 

 
Deferred tax liability 4 33 

 
Movements:

Opening balance 33 1 

Charged/(credited) to profit or loss (note 7) (29) 32 

 
Closing balance 4 33 
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Note 19.  Non-current liabilities - provisions
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Employee benefits 344 185 

Decommissioning 279 209 

 
623 394 

Decommissioning

The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the consolidated entity at the 
end of the respective lease terms.

Movements in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Decom- 
missioning

$’000

Consolidated - 2011

Carrying amount at the start of the year 209 

Additional provisions recognised 133 

Payments (61)

Foreign exchange (2)

 
Carrying amount at the end of the year 279 

Note 20.  Equity - contributed
Consolidated Consolidated

2011 2010 2011 2010

Shares Shares $’000 $’000

 
Ordinary shares - fully paid 60,676,602 60,676,602 28,894 28,894 

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in proportion to the 
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall 
have one vote.

Share buy-back

There is no current on-market share buy-back.

Capital risk management

When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the company and consolidated entity continues as a going concern as 
well as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders. Management are constantly reviewing the capital structure of the company and 
consolidated entity in light of any expected changes in market conditions. Management has no current plans to issue further shares on 
the market or to reduce the capital structure by conducting share buybacks.

Management aim to return a high level of profits to shareholders as dividend payments, whilst maintaining sufficient cash in the 
business for meeting working capital requirements.



78

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 21.  Equity - reserves
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Foreign currency reserve (758) (588)

Employee equity benefits reserve 290 290 

 
(468) (298)

Foreign 
currency

Employee 
equity 

benefits Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2009 (678) 290 (388)

Foreign currency translation 90  -  90 

 
Balance at 30 June 2010 (588) 290 (298)

Foreign currency translation (170)  -  (170)

 
Balance at 30 June 2011 (758) 290 (468)

Foreign currency reserve

The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of foreign operations to 
Australian dollars.

Employee equity benefit reserve

The employee share option and share plan reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors 
as part of their remuneration. These plans are detailed in note 37.

Note 22.  Equity - accumulated losses
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (20,757) (13,619)

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the year 1,392 (7,138)

Dividends paid (note 24) (607)  -  

 
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (19,972) (20,757)
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Note 23.  Equity - non-controlling interest
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Contributed equity 202 202 

Reserves 36 36 

Accumulated losses (310) (188)

 
(72) 50 

The non-controlling interest has 25% (2010: 25%) equity holdings in Andrews Advertising Pty Limited and Quadrant 
Creative Pty Limited.

Note 24.  Equity - dividends
Dividends

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 1 cent per ordinary share paid on 
31 March 2011 fully franked based on a tax rate of 30% 607  -  

The dividend payment of $261,000 in the comparative year relates to the non-controlling interest.

Franking credits

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% 6,070 5,642 

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

• �franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax at the reporting date

• �franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date

• �franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date 

Note 25.  Financial instruments

Financial risk management objectives

The consolidated entity’s principal financial liabilities comprise trade payables. These financial liabilities arise directly from the 
consolidated entity’s operations. The consolidated entity has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short-
term deposits, which arise directly from its operations.

At 30 June 2011 the consolidated entity did not have financial instruments or derivatives other than those disclosed in these notes.

The main risks arising from the consolidated entity’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign 
currency risk. The Board of Directors reviews the management of each of these risks which are summarised below:

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The consolidated entity has transactional foreign currency exposures. Such exposure arises from purchases by the consolidated 
entity in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating units. Approximately 2% of the consolidated entity’s purchases 
are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating unit making the sale. These amounts include the 
payables of foreign creditors, which are not effectively hedged by other foreign currency denominated items.

The consolidated entity’s main foreign currency exposure is New Zealand Dollars, as shown below. Based on this exposure, had 
the Australian Dollar weakened by 10% or strengthened by 10% against the New Zealand Dollar with all other variables held 
constant, the movement would have an immaterial impact on the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity is not sensitive to 
movements in other currencies.
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Note 25. Financial instruments (continued)

The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting 
date was as follows: 

Assets Liabilities

2011 2010 2011 2010

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated

US dollars  -   -  72 70 

Pound Sterling  -   -  41 70 

New Zealand dollars 1,164 641 2 24 

Canadian dollars  -   -  9 1 

South African Rand  -   -  8 10 

Singapore Dollars  -   -  17 27 

Papua New Guinea Tina  -   -   -  1 

Soloman Island Dollars  -   -  1  -  

 
1,164 641 150 203 

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the consolidated entity’s cost 
of borrowing amounts for working capital requirements which are at market interest rates. As noted below, the impact on the 
consolidated entity is small, given the consolidated entity has no long-term borrowings.

The consolidated entity’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to finance the consolidated entity’s operations.

The consolidated entity has various other financial instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise directly 
from its operations.

The consolidated entity is exposed to interest rate risk through financial assets and liabilities.

At the reporting date, the consolidated entity had the following variable rate cash balances:

2011 2010

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance

% $’000 % $’000

Consolidated

Cash at bank 3.90 10,273 4.10 10,875 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 10,273 10,875 

An analysis by remaining contractual maturities in shown is ‘liquidity and interest rate risk management’ below.

An official increase or decrease in interest rates would have no significant impact on profit before tax.
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Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the consolidated entity, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables. The consolidated entity’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum 
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

It is the consolidated entity’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures 
including an assessment of their independent credit rating and financial position. Some customer credit risk within the consolidated 
entity is managed by the use of debtors insurance.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the consolidated entity’s exposure to bad debts 
is not considered to be significant.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and 
stress circumstances. The consolidated entity’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through 
effective management of working capital and the use of available bank credit lines. To limit this risk, management has arranged bank 
credit facilities, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis.

As at 30 June 2011, the consolidated entity had a commercial bill facility of $6 million (2010: $6 million) with the ANZ Banking 
Corporation for working capital purposes, but had no bills outstanding and continues to generate positive operating cash flows.

Remaining contractual maturities

The following tables detail the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial liabilities 
are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and 
therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position.

Consolidated - 2011

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate
1 year or 

less
Between 1 

and 2 years
Between 2 

and 5 years
Over 5 
years

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-derivatives 
Non-interest bearing 
Trade payables  -  26,960  -   -   -  26,960 

Other payables  -  7,101  -   -   -  7,101 

Total non-derivatives 34,061  -   -   -  34,061 

Consolidated - 2010

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate
1 year or 

less
Between 1 

and 2 years
Between 2 

and 5 years
Over 5 
years

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-derivatives 
Non-interest bearing 
Trade payables  -  33,874  -   -   -  33,874 

Other payables  -  2,100  -   -   -  2,100 

Total non-derivatives 35,974  -   -   -  35,974 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than disclosed.

Fair value of financial instruments

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. The carrying amounts of trade 
receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial 
liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market interest rate that is available for 
similar financial instruments.
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Note 26.  Key management personnel disclosures

Directors

The following persons were directors of Adcorp Australia Limited during the financial year:

Bob Campbell	 Non-Executive Chairman

Ian Rodwell	 Non-Executive Director

David Morrison (appointed on 21 March 2011)	 Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Matthew Mellor (resigned on 18 March 2011)	� Former Executive Director  
and Former Chief Executive Officer

 
Other key management personnel

The following persons also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the 
consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Craig McMenamin	 Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

 
Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity 
is set out below:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$ $

 
Short-term employee benefits 665,903 928,579 

Post-employment benefits 42,167 95,375 

Termination benefits 121,095 478,563 

 
829,165 1,502,517 

Shareholding

The number of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key management 
personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

2011

Balance at 
the start of 

the year

Received 
as part of 

remuneration Additions
Disposals/ 

other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Ordinary shares 
 
Ian Rodwell 21,309,127  -  407,000  -  21,716,127 

Craig McMenamin 2,900  -   -   -  2,900 

21,312,027  -  407,000  -  21,719,027 

2010

Balance at 
the start of 

the year

Received 
as part of 

remuneration Additions
Disposals/ 

other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Ordinary shares 
 
Peter James * 275,000  -   -  (275,000)  -  

Ian Rodwell 20,951,470  -  357,657  -  21,309,127 

Keith Twist * 25,000  -   -  (25,000)  -  

Craig McMenamin 2,900  -   -   -  2,900 

21,254,370  -  357,657 (300,000) 21,312,027 

* Disposals/other represents no longer a director or key management personnel, not necessarily a disposal of shareholding.
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Option holding

The number of options over ordinary shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of 
key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

2011

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Options over  
ordinary shares 
 
Matthew Mellor * 200,000  -   -  (200,000)  -  

David Morrison 150,000  -   -   -  150,000 

Craig McMenamin 200,000  -   -   -  200,000 

550,000  -   -  (200,000) 350,000 

* Expired/forfeited/other represents individual no longer being a key management personnel

2010

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

Options over  
ordinary shares 
 
Peter James * 4,000,000  -   -  (4,000,000)  -  

Matthew Mellor 200,000  -   -   -  200,000 

Kevin Lodge * 400,000  -   -  (400,000)  -  

Keith Twist 300,000  -   -  (300,000)  -  

Craig McMenamin 200,000  -   -   -  200,000 

David Morrison 150,000  -   -   -  150,000 

Annette Burke 50,000  -   -  (50,000)  -  

5,300,000  -   -  (4,750,000) 550,000 

* Expired/forfeited/other represents individual no longer being a key management personnel

Related party transactions

Related party transactions are set out in note 30.

Note 27.  Remuneration of auditors

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Ernst & Young, the auditor of the company, 
and its related practices:

Consolidated

2011 2010

$ $

Audit services - Ernst & Young 
Audit or review of the financial report 255,589 216,000 

 
Other services - Ernst & Young 
Other services 30,000 30,000 

285,589 246,000 
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 28.  Contingent liabilities
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Premises 1,276 1,101 

Note 29.  Commitments for expenditure
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Lease commitments - operating 
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable: 
 
Within one year 2,557 2,563 

One to five years 7,168 8,427 

More than five years 142  -  

 
9,867 10,990 

Operating leases are entered into as a means of acquiring access to retail property and IT equipment. Rental payments are generally 
fixed, but with future inflation escalation clauses. No renewal or purchased options exist in relation to operating leases for retail 
property and no operating leases contain restrictions on financing or other leasing activities.

Note 30. Related party transactions

Parent entity

Adcorp Australia Limited is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 32.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 26 and the remuneration report in the directors’ report.

Transactions with related parties

There were no transactions with related parties during the financial year.

Receivable from and payable to related parties

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the reporting date.

Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the reporting date.



85

Note 31. Parent entity information

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

Statement of comprehensive income

                   Parent

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Profit/(loss) after income tax 1,095 (3,862)

 
Total comprehensive income 1,095 (3,862)

Statement of financial position

                   Parent

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Total current assets 47,198 43,223 

 
Total assets 50,342 47,136 

 
Total current liabilities 41,861 39,264 

 
Total liabilities 42,249 39,531 

 
Equity

Contributed equity 28,894 28,894 

Reserves 290 290 

Accumulated losses (21,091) (21,579)

 
Total equity 8,093 7,605 

Contingent liabilities

                   Parent

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Bank guarantees 750 575 

Lease commitments

The parent entity had lease commitments of $6,254,000 at 30 June 2011.

Capital commitments – Property, plant and equipment

The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at as 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1, 
except for the following:

• �Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment. Impairment is based on value in use calculation using 
cash flow projections based on budgets approved by the Board for the year ending 30 June 2012 plus a further four years of 
forecast results plus a terminal value.

• �Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an indicator of an 
impairment of the investment.

• �Management fees are charged to subsidiaries to recover costs of functions performed by the head office. Revenue is 
recognised as earned.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 32. Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in note 1:

Equity holding

2011 2010

Name of entity Country of incorporation % %

 
Adcorp Australia (Vic) Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 

Adcorp Australia (Qld) Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 

R&L Advertising Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 

Adcorp D&D Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 

Austpac Media Pty Ltd * Australia 100.00 100.00 

Adcorp SWA Pty Ltd * Australia 100.00 100.00 

Donald & Donald (Victoria) Pty Ltd * Australia 100.00 100.00 

Nancarrow Marketing Company 
Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 

Adcorp New Zealand Limited New Zealand 100.00 100.00 

Cutriss Dye Limited ** New Zealand  -  100.00 

Adcorp Technologies Pty Limited Australia 100.00 100.00 

Employment Opportunities in 
Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 

Connect2One Pty Ltd *** Australia  -  100.00 

Andrews Advertising Pty Ltd Australia 75.00 75.00 

Quadrant Creative Pty Ltd Australia 75.00 75.00 

* These entities are controlled entities of Adcorp D&D Pty Ltd

** Cutriss Dye Limited was deregistered on 16 July 2010

*** Connect2One Pty Ltd was deregistered on 20 May 2011

Note 33.  Deed of cross guarantee

The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others:

Adcorp Australia Limited

Adcorp Australia (Vic) Pty Ltd

Adcorp Australia (Qld) Pty Ltd

Adcorp D&D Pty Ltd

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and 
directors’ report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (‘ASIC’).

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties to the Deed 
of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by Adcorp Australia Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’.
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Note 33.  Deed of cross guarantee (continued) 

Set out below is a consolidated statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position of the ‘Closed Group’.

2011 2010

Statement of comprehensive income $’000 $’000

 
Revenue 23,691 23,318 

Other income 293 5,123 

Client service expenses (14,858) (15,772)

Administrative expenses (938) (2,236)

Marketing expenses (1,518) (1,216)

Office and communication expenses (3,851) (4,135)

Finance costs (81) (23)

2,738 5,059 

Profit before income tax expense 
Income tax expense (498) (399)

 
Profit after income tax expense 2,240 4,660 

 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -   -  

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,240 4,660 
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 33.  Deed of cross guarantee (continued)
2011 2010

Statement of financial position $’000 $’000

 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 8,810 10,032 

Trade and other receivables 25,933 24,959 

Other 116 118 

34,859 35,109 

Non-current assets 
Other financial assets 10,135 6,861 

Property, plant and equipment 992 591 

Intangibles 255 976 

Deferred tax 1,041 849 

12,423 9,277 

 
Total assets 47,282 44,386 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 31,545 32,853 

Income tax 48 396 

Provisions 3,372 612 

34,965 33,861 

Non-current liabilities 
Deferred tax 36 8 

Provisions 431 300 

467 308 

 
Total liabilities 35,432 34,169 

 
Net assets 11,850 10,217 

 
Equity

Contributed equity 28,894 28,894 

Reserves 290 290 

Accumulated losses (17,334) (18,967)

 
Total equity 11,850 10,217 

Note 34.  Events occurring after the reporting date

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2011 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated 
entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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Note 35.  Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash from 
operating activities

Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

 
Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the year 1,270 (7,101)

 
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 686 1,019 

Write off of non-current assets 49  -  

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5)  -  

Foreign exchange differences (123) 44 

Impairment of assets 5 7,975 

 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 768 (6,955)

Decrease in income tax refund due 80  -  

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (19) 135 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (11) 4 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (1,679) 10,509 

Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax (47) 256 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities (29) 32 

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 53 (66)

Increase in other provisions 13 78 

 
Net cash from operating activities 1,011 5,930 
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 36.  Earnings per share
Consolidated

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Profit/(loss) after income tax 1,270 (7,101)

Non-controlling interest 122 (37)

 
Profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to the owners of Adcorp Australia Limited 1,392 (7,138)

 
Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic 
earnings per share 60,676,602 60,676,602 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share 60,676,602 60,676,602 

 
Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 2.29 (11.76)

Diluted earnings per share 2.29 (11.76)

350,000 options (2010: 550,000) are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share due to the exercise price exceeding 
the average share price throughout the year.

Note 37. Share-based payments

Employee share option plan

The consolidated entity has an Employee Share Option Plan (‘ESOP’) for the granting of non-transferable options to certain directors 
and senior executives.

Options issued under the ESOP will vest as follows:

i) on the second anniversary of the grant date – 30% of the options granted;

ii) on the third anniversary of the grant date – a further 30% of the options granted; and

iii) on the fourth anniversary of the grant date – the remaining 40% of the options granted.

Options vest no earlier than 1 July 2010. Of the total 350,000 options on issue, 150,000 vested at 1 July 2010. The remaining 
200,000 have not yet vested as the vesting is conditional on a cumulative 10% growth in earnings per share (‘EPS’) on the 
2008 financial year EPS, this growth has not yet been achieved.

Other relevant terms and conditions applicable to options granted under the ESOP include:

i) the exercise price of the options is equal to Adcorp Australia Limited’s weighted average share price for the five days prior to the 
grant date;

ii) any options that are unvested on the fifth anniversary of their grant date will lapse;

iii) upon exercise, these options will be settled in ordinary shares of Adcorp Australia Limited; and

(iv) options are cancelled 3 months after the employee departs the company.

The fair value of the options is estimated at the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes model.
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Note 37. Share-based payments (continued)

Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan:

2011

Grant date        Expiry date
Exercise 

price

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

 
01/07/07            30/06/12 $0.39 450,000  -   -  (300,000) 150,000 

01/07/08            30/06/13 $0.40 200,000  -   -   -  200,000 

650,000  -   -  (300,000) 350,000 

2010

Grant date        Expiry date
Exercise 

price

Balance at 
the start of 

the year Granted Exercised

Expired/ 
forfeited/ 

other

Balance at 
the end of 

the year

 
29/10/04            28/10/09 $1.25 3,000,000  -   -  (3,000,000)  -  

01/07/07            30/06/12 $0.39 1,400,000  -   -  (950,000) 450,000 

01/07/08            30/06/13 $0.40 1,050,000  -   -  (850,000) 200,000 

5,450,000  -   -  (4,800,000) 650,000 
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Directors’ declaration
In the directors’ opinion:

• �the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the 
Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; 

• �the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the 
financial statements;

• �the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

• �there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and

• �at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended 
Closed Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject 
by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in note 33 to the financial statements.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

	

David Morrison	 Bob Campbell 
Director and Chief Executive Officer	 Chairman

26 August 2011 
Sydney
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Shareholder information
30 June 2011

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 18 August 2011.

Distribution of equitable securities

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:
Number of holders  
of ordinary shares

1 to 1,000 164 

1,001 to 5,000 380 

5,001 to 10,000 177 

10,001 to 100,000 338 

100,001 and over 53 

1,112 

Holding less than a marketable parcel 420 

Equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Ordinary shares

Number held
% of total 

shares issued

 
Sovote Pty Ltd (Rodwell (New Millennium) A/C) 21,716,127 35.79 

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 6,454,535 10.64 

Mr Victor John Plummer 5,312,343 8.76 

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 1,799,065 2.97 

Mr Frederick Benjamin Warmbrand (FB & LJ Warmbrand Super A/C) 937,345 1.54 

Mr Richard Mews + Mrs Wee Khoon Mews (Mews Super Fund A/C) 756,832 1.25 

Mr Anthony Mark Van Der Steeg 755,877 1.25 

K B J Investments Pty Ltd (Jarry Family Super Fund A/C) 500,000 0.82 

Lozotu Pty Limited (Superannuation Fund A/C) 480,753 0.79 

Mrs Lilian Jeanette Warmbrand 460,000 0.76 

Yaffa Syndicate Pty Limited 390,000 0.64 

Gemac Investments Pty Ltd 378,000 0.62 

Teedon Pty Ltd (Donohue Group S/F A/C) 371,320 0.61 

Mrs Nelly Michelle Cunningham 358,950 0.59 

Lozotu Pty Limited 314,011 0.52 

Mark S Campbell Pty Ltd (Mark Campbell Prov Fund A/C) 310,038 0.51 

Mr John Maxwell Inglis + Mrs Bernadette Joan Inglis 300,000 0.49 

Miralanco Investments Pty Ltd 300,000 0.49 

Bond Street Custodians Limited (Drayne - 120149 A/C) 275,000 0.45 

Lindway Investments Pty Limited 243,493 0.40 

 
42,413,689 69.89 
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Shareholder information (continued)
30 June 2011

Unquoted equity securities

There are no unquoted equity securities.

Substantial holders

Substantial holders in the company are set out below:

Ordinary shares

Number held
% of total  

shares issued

 
Sovote Pty Ltd (Rodwell (New Millennium) A/C) 21,716,127 35.79 

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 6,454,535 10.64 

Mr Victor John Plummer 5,312,243 8.76 

Voting rights

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Ordinary shares

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall 
have one vote.

There are no other classes of equity securities.






